IDENTIFYING MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN ALCOHOL USE DISORDERS: TLR4 METHYLATION AND CYTOKINE EXPRESSION

by

Hollis C. Karoly

B.A., University of Pennsylvania, 2010

M.A., University of Colorado Boulder, 2013

A thesis submitted to the

Faculty of the Graduate School of the

University of Colorado in partial fulfillment

of the requirement for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Psychology and Neuroscience

2017

This thesis entitled: Identifying Molecular Mechanisms in Alcohol Use Disorders: TLR4 Methylation and Cytokine Expression written by Hollis C. Karoly has been approved for the Department of Psychology and Neuroscience

Kent E. Hutchison

Committee chair

Angela D. Bryan

Committee member

Date_____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above mentioned discipline.

IRB protocol # 15-0339

Karoly, Hollis C. (Ph.D. Psychology and Neuroscience)

Identifying Molecular Mechanisms in Alcohol Use Disorders: TLR4 Methylation and Cytokine Expression

Thesis directed by Professor Kent E. Hutchison

Alcohol use disorders (AUDs) are associated with significant morbidity, mortality and socioeconomic costs in the United States. Despite decades of research, the best treatments are only modestly successful, in part due to the neurobiological complexity of AUDs. Although the molecular mechanism(s) driving the effects of alcohol on the brain and body are not fully understood, human and animal studies have converged to underscore the role of neuroinflammation. Alcohol increases inflammation via binding to Toll-like Receptor 4 (TLR4) receptors on immune cells. Chronic alcohol-induced, TLR4-mediated inflammatory signaling may lead to cellular damage. One hypothesized consequence of alcohol-induced immune signaling disruptions is neuronal cell death in frontal control regions of the brain, consistent with inhibitory deficits observed in AUD. This study explores inflammation as a molecular mechanism underlying cognitive deficits in AUD.

We collected *N*=82 subjects (mean age=29.91(*4.5*), range 25-40), including n=43 heavy drinkers and n=39 light drinkers. In addition to administering a battery of questionnaires measuring psychological variables, substance use and other health behaviors, we measured circulating and LPS-stimulated pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, IL-1 β) and the damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecule HMGB1, TLR4 promoter methylation, and cognitive performance. We hypothesized that alcohol consumption would be associated with increased circulating and stimulated cytokines and HMGB1, greater TLR4 methylation and

lower cognitive performance. We further hypothesized that inflammatory cytokines would mediate the relationship between alcohol consumption and cognition.

Contrary to these hypotheses, no group differences emerged for inflammation or cognitive performance. When alcohol was examined as a continuous predictor, a significant relationship emerged between alcohol consumption and circulating and stimulated IL-6 and between cannabis use and circulating IL-1 β . Follow-up analyses indicated that cannabis use moderates the relationship between alcohol and circulating IL-6, such that individuals who did not use cannabis in the 90 days prior to the study showed a strong correlation between alcohol and IL-6, whereas those who did use cannabis did not demonstrate any association. Future work should explore the interaction between alcohol and cannabis on peripheral inflammation, ideally with the inclusion of structural or functional brain imaging to examine how potential changes in peripheral inflammation impact neural control circuitry.

Dedication

This manuscript is dedicated with all my love, gratitude, and admiration, to my favorite psychologists, Linda Ruehlman and Paul Karoly, whom I am immeasurably lucky to have as parents. I attribute this accomplishment—as well as most other things—to their unwavering support for my passions and unrelenting faith in my abilities. It will be impossible to ever thank them enough, but I'll keep trying.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported in part by a Beverly Sears Graduate Student Grant awarded to Hollis Karoly by the Graduate School, as well as discretionary research funds provided to Drs. Angela Bryan and Kent Hutchison from the University of Colorado Boulder.

I would also like to acknowledge, and express my deepest appreciation for the hard work of several professional research assistants and undergraduate volunteers, without whom this research would not have been possible. First and foremost, I would like to thank Raeghan Mueller, B.A., for her excellent work running and supervising the blood assays for this study. I would also like to thank, in alphabetical order: Genevieve Bennett, Paige Cantliffe, Kallie Felkey, Cleo Anderson-Green, Tim Helmuth, B.A., Claire Koljack, B.A., Leigha Larsen, Jackson Lombardi, Allegra Lyon, B.A., David Messinger, and Angie Neren, B.A. I also thank Angelika Krivenko, Ph.D., Cinnamon Bidwell, Ph.D., and Jarrod Ellingson, Ph.D., for their consulting and general assistance.

Finally, I would like to sincerely acknowledge and thank my mentors, Dr. Kent Hutchison and Dr. Angela Bryan for their incredible support of my research and professional endeavors during my time in graduate school.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER	••••••	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Theoretical Models of Addiction	1
	Neural Control Systems and AUDs	2
	Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Alcohol-Induced Adap	tations in
	Neural Control Circuitry: Immune Signaling and TLR4	
	Alcohol and Inflammation	6
	Alcohol, Inflammation and Neurocognition	7
	Alcohol and Epigenetics	9
	Epigenetics and Inflammation	10
	TLR4 Methylation and Gene Expression	11
	The Present Study	12
	Study Aims and Hypotheses	15
	Preliminary Studies	17
II.	METHOD	20
	Study Design	20
	Power Analysis	20
	Subject Selection	21
	Study Procedures	24
	Assessments and Measures	25
	Self-Report Measures	25
	Cognitive Assessments	30
	Blood Procedures	
	Collection of Blood Samples	
	LPS Stimulation of Whole Blood	
	Determining Cell Population	
	Isolation and Cryopreservation of PBMC	32
	Circulating Cytokine Assays	
	LPS Stimulated Cytokine Assays	
	HMGB1 Production	
	DNA Extraction and Storage	
	Bisulfite Sequencing/Estimation of Methylation	
	Statistical Analysis Plan	
III.	RESULTS	
	Sample Characteristics and Available Data	
	Cytokine Assay Results	40
	Correlations Between Outcome Variables and	
	Self-Report Measures.	
	One-Way ANOVA Results	
	Regression Results	
** *	Follow-up Analyses	
IV.	DISCUSSION	
	Overview of Main Outcomes	
	Limitations	
	Summary & Conclusions	74

EFERENCES

TABLES

1.	Subject Demographics by Drinking Group	39
2.	Correlations Between Circulating Cytokines and	
	Self-Report Measures	43
3.	Correlations Between Stimulated Cytokines and	
	Self-Report Measures	43
4.	Correlations between TLR4, Cognitive Measures and	
	Self-Report Measures	44
5.	ANOVAs for Between Group Differences in Outcome Variables	46

FIGURES

1.	Theoretical Model of Neuroinflammation in the Control Pathway	.14
2.	Model of Primary Study Aims	.17
3.	Diagram of Assayed CpG Sites within the First Exon of TLR4	.35
4.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Circulating HMGB1	.48
5.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Circulating IL-6	.49
6.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Circulating IL-1ß	.50
7.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Circulating IL-8	.51
8.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Stimulated IL-6	.52
9.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Stimulated IL-18	.53
10.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Stimulated IL-8	.54
11.	Scatterplot: Drinks per Drinking Day and Stimulated HMGB1	.55
12.	Scatterplot: Cannabis days and Circulating Il-18	.56
13.	Exploration of Moderation Effects: Comparison of Drinks per Drinkin	ıg
	Day and Circulating IL-6 in Cannabis Users and Non-Users	.60

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Alcohol use disorders (AUDs) represent a serious mental and physical health problem in the United States (Bouchery, Harwood, Sacks, Simon, & Brewer, 2011; Stahre, Roeber, Kanny, Brewer, & Zhang, 2014). Specifically, AUDs contribute significantly to global morbidity and mortality (Lozano et al., 2012; Murray et al., 2012) and are one of the leading causes of disability worldwide (Whiteford et al., 2013). Although decades of basic science research and clinically oriented studies have shed light on the etiology and risk factors associated with AUD, the best pharmacological and behavioral treatments demonstrate only modest efficacy (Anton et al., 2006). Given the neurobiological complexity of AUD (Volkow & Baler, 2014), the development of more efficacious treatments will undoubtedly require gaining a deeper mechanistic understanding of the neural and molecular mechanisms that underlie the etiology and course of the disorder. Considerable research has characterized specific neural circuitry changes that occur in AUD, but less is known about the molecular bases for these deleterious alcohol-related neuroadaptations. The identification of molecular mechanisms that contribute to alcohol-induced neural alterations may eventually lead to promising new pharmacological treatment options.

Theoretical Models of Addiction

To elucidate molecular mechanisms that may be involved in developing AUD and promoting relapse, it is important to consider the typical neural and behavioral changes that occur over the course of the disorder. Over the past 75 years, research spanning such disciplines as psychology, psychiatry, molecular biology, neuroscience and integrative physiology has leveraged innovative techniques such as neuroimaging, animal models, genetics and epigenetics to shed light on critical neuroadaptations characteristic of AUDs (e.g., Candon, Ward, & Pandina, 2014; Schuckit, 2014). Based on this body of work, theoretical models of addiction have emphasized the role of neural control and reward circuits in directly influencing substance use behavior (Karoly, Harlaar, & Hutchison, 2013; Koob & Volkow, 2010). Specifically, the reward network (Kalivas & Volkow, 2005) promotes the urge to use a substance, and the control network (Bechara, 2005) determines whether an individual will act upon such an urge (Hutchison, 2008). Over the course of addiction, there appears to be progressive dysfunction of these interconnected reward and control circuits, such that the reward network is increasingly "strengthened" while the control network is "weakened" (Baler & Volkow, 2006; Crews & Boettiger, 2009; Haber & Behrens, 2014; Karoly et al., 2013). Currently, the molecular mechanisms underlying the neural circuitry changes associated with alcohol dependence are not fully understood. The present study aims to explore molecular mechanisms that may underlie alcohol-related changes specifically within *control systems* in the brain.

Neural Control Systems and Alcohol Use Disorders

Evidence suggests that neurocognitive mechanisms of inhibitory-control are undermined in AUDs. Behaviorally, such control dysfunction may be evidenced by continued alcohol use despite negative psychosocial, medical, financial or other consequences. In the brain, cognitive control functions are subserved primarily by a network of frontal structures including the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dIPFC) (Boettiger, Kelley, Mitchell, D'Esposito, & Fields, 2009; Claus, Kiehl, & Hutchison, 2011; Karoly et al., 2013). These areas underlie reflective cognition, control over impulsive decisions, evaluation of the magnitude of potential rewards, and the urge to use substances (Bechara & Van Der Linden, 2005; Goldstein & Volkow, 2011; Wong et al., 2006).

Both animal and human studies have shown that these critical frontal brain regions are compromised in the context of chronic and/or heavy alcohol exposure (see Crews & Boettiger, 2009). Although alcohol dependent individuals have lower volumes of both cortical and subcortical brain structures (Crews & Nixon, 2009), the frontal lobes appear to incur the most alcohol-related damage (Rosenbloom, Sullivan, & Pfefferbaum, 2003; Sullivan & Pfefferbaum, 2005). Notably, the frontal cortex (Harper & Kril, 1989) and the orbitofrontal cortex (Miguel-Hidalgo, Overholser, Meltzer, Stockmeier, & Rajkowska, 2006) show significant neuronal loss in post-mortem studies of alcohol dependence.

Currently, the molecular mechanisms underlying alcohol-induced frontal lobe damage are not clearly understood, yet emergent research has highlighted the role of innate immune signaling and inflammation in promoting neural adaptations related to acute and chronic exposure to alcohol (Mayfield, Ferguson, & Harris, 2013). One hypothesis is that the deleterious neuro-inflammatory sequelae of alcohol use may contribute to neurodegeneration (Perry, Nicoll, & Holmes, 2010), and such damage may be particularly evident in frontal control areas of the brain (e.g., He & Crews, 2008; Qin & Crews, 2012). However, further research is needed to elucidate the relationship between alcohol, inflammation and damage within neural control circuitry.

Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Alcohol-Induced Adaptations in Neural Control Circuitry

Immune Signaling and TLR4. The human immune response involves both innate immunity, which occurs quickly as the first line of defense against toxins, and adaptive immunity, which

occurs later and is associated with immune memory. The focus here will be primarily on innate immune signaling. A critical role of innate immune cells is to respond to invaders or danger signals, typically causing inflammation, which is a localized response that generally involves heat, redness, swelling, pain, loss of function and cell migration. The innate immune system relies on germline-encoded, pattern-recognition receptors, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), to identify invading pathogens and activate various immune cells. Of particular importance to the discussion of alcohol and immune signaling is TLR4, a cell-surface receptor found in numerous peripheral immune cells, that recognizes multiple pathogen/danger-associated molecular patterns (P/DAMPS) associated with pathogens or cellular signals of danger or stress. Importantly, the gram-negative bacterial cell wall component lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is an endotoxin recognized by TLR4, and binding of LPS to TLR4 triggers signaling pathways (via the oxidant-sensitive pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF-kB) that ultimately lead to an increase in blood levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Crews, Zou, & Qin, 2011).

Peripheral cytokines, such as interleukins, can then influence the inflammatory response in the central nervous system (CNS; comprised of the brain and spinal cord in humans). The mechanism through which this occurs is not completely understood, but may involve the ability of certain cytokines to penetrate the blood brain barrier (BBB) via circumventricular organs or active transport across the BBB membrane (Quan & Banks, 2007).

Another DAMP molecule that binds to TLR4 is high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), which is a chromatin protein that regulates gene transcription, and is produced by immune cells in response to a bacterial endotoxin like LPS or endogenous pro-inflammatory cytokines (Yu et al., 2006). TLR4 binding of HMGB1 results in NF-kB upregulation (Park et al., 2006; Park et al., 2004), and it is thought that HMGB1 binding to TLR4 also leads to cytokine release. For example, alcohol-induced HMGB1/TLR4 signaling is associated with induction of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-1β (IL-1β) in the brain (Crews, Qin, Sheedy, Vetreno, & Zou, 2013). IL-1β is key to the inflammatory signaling cascade, and is considered the "gatekeeper of inflammation," given that it produces additional pro-inflammatory cytokines, induces the "sickness response," and is a critical mediator of peripheral-to-brain immune signaling (Dinarello, 2011; Maier & Watkins, 1998). In summary, TLR4 is implicated as a critical mediator of central and peripheral immune signaling cascades, and is activated through binding of LPS or HMGB1, which activates critical IL-1β-mediated signaling pathways.

An important characteristic of TLR4 is its location in the CNS and periphery. TLR4 is usually expressed in macrophages, and in the brain TLR4 is expressed in glial cells, particularly microglia (Lehnardt et al., 2003) which serve a primary role in neuroimmune defense. In healthy individuals, microglia are generally at rest, but can be transiently activated to respond to injury, insult or disease (Boche, Perry, & Nicoll, 2013). Activation of microglia through TLR4 signaling cascades results in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain, and induces additional neuromodulatory mediators of inflammation, such as inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (Fernandez-Lizarbe, Pascual, & Guerri, 2009).

In the normal immune response, these and other downstream mediators serve a regulatory function that creates the inflammatory environment necessary to control infections or respond to injury. However, uncontrolled activation of the inflammatory response (as may be the case in heavy or chronic alcohol exposure) is associated with increased neuroinflammation, reduced neuroprotection and neuronal repair, and increased neurodegeneration (Guerri & Pascual, 2013). Next, we will discuss the specific impact of alcohol on inflammatory signaling, including possible consequences for neurocognition and frontal brain regions.

Alcohol and Inflammation

Recent evidence from human and animal research has converged to support the role of alcohol in promoting deleterious adaptations in inflammatory signaling cascades. In fact, it is likely that perturbation of the immune system is a critical mechanism in the etiology of AUD (Alfonso-Loeches & Guerri, 2011; Coller & Hutchinson, 2012; Leclercq et al., 2012; Leclercq, De Saeger, Delzenne, de Timary, & Stärkel, 2014; Mayfield et al., 2013), as alcohol appears to induce numerous pro-inflammatory effects throughout the CNS and periphery. Note that alcohol itself is not considered a true "danger signal," given that it is not a pathogen-derived molecule (Gallucci & Matzinger, 2001). Rather, alcohol is directly associated with the release of endogenous danger signals (e.g., LPS, HMGB1) within both the CNS and periphery. Peripherally, alcohol impairs the function of the intestinal barrier (Parlesak, Schäfer, Schütz, Bode, & Bode, 2000), and increases translocation of LPS from the gut (Wang, Zakhari, & Jung, 2010), thereby causing LPS levels in the blood to increase, as demonstrated by several studies (Bode, Kugler & Bode, 1987; Fujimoto et al., 2000; Leclercq et al., 2012; Parlesak, Schafer, Schutz, Bode & Bode, 2000). In general, higher circulating LPS in the blood indicates greater gut permeability, and is associated with inflammation in the context of alcohol use and alcoholic liver injury (Szabo et al., 2010). In the CNS, alcohol is also associated with the release of DAMPs such as HGMB1, which trigger neuroinflammatory cascades through activation of TLR4 (Szabo & Lippai, 2014). Perhaps more importantly, alcohol itself can directly bind to TLR4 in the brain, thereby stimulating neuroimmune signaling (Alfonso-Loeches, Pascual-Lucas, Blanco, Sanchez-Vera, & Guerri, 2010; Lewis et al., 2013). Activation of the TLR4mediated pathway by alcohol is associated with prolonged microglial activity and the aberrant

production of inflammatory mediators (e.g., pro-inflammatory cytokines, iNOS, COX-2) (Fernandez-Lizarbe et al., 2009).

In addition to inducing higher circulating levels of inflammatory markers, prolonged alcohol use is thought to be associated with greater sensitivity of cells to stimulation by LPS (Schäfer, Schips, Landig, Bode, & Bode, 1995). Indeed, a recent study collected whole blood cells following an acute binge-alcohol administration in humans and found an increase in circulating endotoxin in the blood, as well as increased inflammatory cytokines following an in vitro LPS stimulation procedure (Bala, Marcos, Gattu, Catalano, & Szabo, 2014). This suggests that even a single alcohol binge can acutely alter immune signaling, including responses to LPS.

Taken together, the evidence supports alcohol-induced dysregulation within both central and peripheral immune signaling pathways. One hypothesized consequence of such disrupted immune signaling is neuronal cell death in frontal control regions of the brain, consistent with the deficits in inhibitory control observed over the course of AUDs (Li, Luo, Yan, Bergquist, & Sinha, 2009). Examining the potential role of inflammation in mediating the relationship between alcohol use and cognitive impairment may be one avenue for exploring this hypothesis.

Alcohol, Inflammation and Neurocognition

The association between alcohol and neurocognitive deficits has been a topic of biomedical and psychological investigation for over 30 years (e.g., Bartholow, Henry, Lust, Saults, & Wood, 2012; Brandt, Butters, Ryan, & Bayog, 1983; Parsons & Leber, 1982; Trantham-Davidson et al., 2014). The suggestion that inflammatory processes may be involved in mediating this relationship is somewhat more recent (e.g., Bajaj et al., 2012; Butterworth, 1995). The mechanisms of alcohol-induced cellular damage are still not completely understood, but likely involve oxidative stress associated with prolonged inflammation and microglial activation.

Briefly, increases in reactive oxygen species (ROS) occur as part of the TLR4-mediated inflammatory response (Crews & Nixon, 2009; Hensley, Robinson, Gabbita, Salsman, & Floyd, 2000). ROS induction is important for defending against pathogens, however high levels of ROS (i.e., during prolonged exposures to toxins or stressors, perhaps including alcohol) may result in significant cellular damage (Simon, Haj-Yehia, & Levi-Schaffer, 2000). Importantly, frontal brain regions may be especially vulnerable to damage caused by oxidative stress (Bartzokis, 2004). Recent animal and human studies have shed light on inflammation as a possible mediator of alcohol-induced frontal brain damage. One human post-mortem study found that earlier age of drinking onset is associated with increased expression of HMGB1 and TLR4 in the OFC (Vetreno, Qin, & Crews, 2013). In addition, a recent rodent study found that intermittent ethanol treatment in adolescent mice was associated with learning deficits and increased perseverative behavior in adulthood, as well as increased frontal cortical TLR4, TLR3 and HMGB1 (Vetreno & Crews, 2012). Further, binge-like ethanol administration in adolescent rats increased TLR4 gene expression in the PFC, and increased pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1ß (Pascual, Pla, Miñarro, & Guerri, 2014). Interestingly, this study also linked upregulation of TLR4 and other inflammatory mediators with alterations in myelin protein levels in the PFC. Such myelin changes are important because they may underlie long-term cognitive impairment. Note that the ethanol treatment in this study did not significantly alter myelin or inflammation in the brains of adult rats, suggesting that the age of onset of drinking should be accounted for when examining the impact of alcohol on neuroinflammation and cognition.

Conversely, suppression of neuroinflammatory signaling in rats has been found to prevent cognitive deficits (e.g., object memory recognition, conditioned taste aversion) associated with alcohol use (Tiwari & Chopra, 2013; Tiwari, Kuhad, & Chopra, 2009). Relatedly, adult mice lacking TLR4 receptors were protected from ethanol-induced inflammatory damage as well as the associated deficiencies in performance on cognitive tasks such as object memory recognition (Pascual, Baliño, Alfonso-Loeches, Aragón, & Guerri, 2011). Finally, the anti-inflammatory mediator IL-10 was negatively correlated with performance on a selective attention task in alcohol dependent subjects following 3 weeks of abstinence, highlighting the association between inflammation and cognitive impairments that may persist even into abstinence (Leclercq et al., 2012).

Taken together, these findings support a potential mechanistic link between chronic alcohol exposure, neuroinflammation, and cognitive impairments. We suggest that alcoholinduced alterations in inflammatory signaling could incite damage to frontal brain regions, thereby producing neurocognitive impairment and promoting the inhibitory control dysfunction characteristic of AUDs.

Alcohol and Epigenetics

Another likely relevant factor is epigenetics, which refers to the potentially reversible biochemical processes that regulate gene transcription and expression without altering the DNA sequence. Recent studies in animals and humans have suggested that epigenetic mechanisms may mediate the effect of alcohol on long lasting adaptations in the brain (Nestler, 2014; Starkman, Sakharkar, & Pandey, 2012). Epigenetic research has focused primarily on how changes to DNA influence chromatin structure (Warnault & Ron, 2013). DNA methylation is one epigenetic process that has been shown to modify chromatin and exert downstream effects on gene transcription and expression of protein products. DNA methylation tends to occur at unmethylated cytosine guanine (CpG) dinucleotides, clusters of which are often located in promoter, or 5' regions, of many human genes, and have come to be known as CpG islands (Goldberg, Allis, & Bernstein, 2007). Unusual patterns of DNA methylation in humans have been associated with numerous diseases (Jones & Takai, 2001), including cancer, schizophrenia, and a variety of other psychiatric conditions including AUD (Santos, Mazzola, & Carvalho, 2005). Usually, higher ("hyper") methylation (in contrast to lower, "hypo" methylation) is associated with disease states, but this is can vary depending on the genomic location of the CpG site (Santos et al., 2005). Alcohol seems to be associated with modifications of gene expression due to both hypo- and hyper-methylation (Shukla et al., 2008).

Although still a somewhat nascent area of research, there are a growing number of studies on epigenetics and alcohol abuse in humans that have focused on DNA methylation. These findings support the hypothesis that alcohol exposure leads to aberrant changes in gene expression, which may have downstream effects on the development, progression and effects of AUDs (Wong, Mill, & Fernandes, 2011). Given the critical role of inflammatory signaling in AUD, methylation of genes that regulate TLR4 and influence the TLR4-mediated signaling cascade may be of particular interest from a pharmacological treatment perspective (e.g., Hagerty et al., 2016).

Epigenetics and Inflammation

Chronic inflammation is thought to be critically involved in promoting abnormal DNA methylation (Hur et al., 2011), and it has recently been suggested that epigenetics may serve as a

"unifying molecular mechanism to explain complex immune-mediated diseases" (Jenke & Zilbauer, 2012). Emerging evidence suggests this may be particularly true regarding AUD and alcohol-related illnesses, given that alcohol-induced epigenetic changes have been shown to impact several immune pathways associated with inflammatory responses (Curtis, Zahs, & Kovacs, 2013). Notably, LPS-induced TLR4 stimulation has been associated with epigenetic changes within regions of DNA that encode pro-inflammatory cytokines (Foster, Hargreaves, & Medzhitov, 2007). In addition, TLR4-dependent reprogramming of inflammatory genes appears to be mediated in part by epigenetic modifications (El Gazzar & McCall, 2010).

Relatedly, DNA methylation was shown to regulate transcription of IL-2, which serves a critical role in the immune response (Wen, Schaller, Dou, Hogaboam, & Kunkel, 2008). Further, alcohol-related epigenetic regulation of the inflammatory mediator IL-10 is indicated by the fact that decreased production of IL-10 appears to be partly responsible for increasing the sensitivity of chronically alcohol-exposed cells to LPS (Schäfer et al., 1995). To summarize, emerging literature suggests that epigenetic regulation may be involved in the immune response in the context of AUD. It is hypothesized that, that given the importance of TLR4 signaling in alcohol-related inflammatory signaling, examining DNA methylation or other epigenetic changes within the TLR4 gene may be an important avenue for future discovery.

TLR4 Methylation and Gene Expression

The association between DNA methylation levels and downstream effects (i.e., gene expression) is highly nuanced and can differ significantly across genes and regions, however methylation is frequently associated with decreased transcription of gene products (Jones, 2012). There is limited existing research that directly examines the relationship between methylation

and expression within the TLR4 gene, however several rodent studies support a link between TLR4 methylation and expression. Specifically, enhanced TLR4 expression was accompanied by TLR4 promotor demethylation in the context of a systemic inflammatory response (Chang et al., 2015). Another study found that suppression of TLR4 expression in mice may be mediated, at least in part, by TLR4 methylation, thereby reducing TLR4 responsiveness to an immune challenge (Zampetaki, Xiao, Zeng, Hu, & Xu, 2006). In addition to decreased immune responsivity, mice lacking in TLR4 receptors were also found to be protected against alcoholinduced changes within protein-degradation pathways, pointing to an important role for TLR4 in alcohol-related neurodegeneration (Pla, Pascual, Renau-Piqueras & Guerri, 2014). The role of TLR4 methylation/expression has not been explicitly addressed in human studies to date, however our group recently demonstrated that TLR4 methylation may be protective against the damage conferred by alcohol on gray matter within two specific brain regions, the inferior parietal cortex and the precuneus (Karoly et al., in press). Specifically, we found a significant negative association between alcohol dependence severity and precuneus and inferior parietal gray matter in individuals with low TLR4 methylation, but no relationship between alcohol and gray matter in individuals with high levels of TLR4 methylation. These results support the idea that that TLR4 methylation may downregulate inflammatory signaling in the brain, and perhaps serve a protective role against the damage conferred by alcohol on the brain.

The Present Study

Although there has been substantial research on reward and control networks and how they may be related to AUD treatment outcomes, considerably less work has focused on delineating the molecular mechanisms that underlie deleterious alcohol-related neuroadaptations within these brain networks. Examining molecular precursors of these adaptations may aid in ultimately developing new pharmacological treatment targets.

The existing literature suggests that central and peripheral inflammation likely plays an important role in the etiology of alcohol use disorders via TLR4-mediated signaling cascades (Alfonso-Loeches & Guerri, 2011; Fernandez-Lizarbe et al., 2009; Mayfield et al., 2013). In addition, TLR4 methylation may be a key regulatory mechanism that impacts inflammatory signaling (Takahashi, Sugi, Hosono, & Kaminogawa, 2009), and recent data from our laboratory indicates that TLR4 is differentially methylated in alcohol use disorders (Hagerty et al., 2016). Taken together, this prior evidence suggests that alcohol-related perturbations of gene expression within the TLR4-mediated inflammatory signaling cascade may impact cognitive function, alter neural control circuitry and perhaps contribute to impaired control over drinking and relapse (Bartzokis, 2004; Leclercq et al., 2012; Tiwari & Chopra, 2013; Vetreno et al., 2013). Thus, the goal of the present study was to examine the complex relationship between inflammation, TLR4 methylation and cognitive functioning among heavy and light drinkers. Figure 1 depicts the hypothesized inflammatory pathway through which alcohol may act on the brain and periphery to ultimately damage frontal control regions of the brain.

Importantly, one of the primary limitations of the prior literature is the inability to measure inflammation in the brain in vivo. Because alcohol is thought to cause neuroinflammation, and this neuroinflammation may be partially due to peripheral inflammation, we sampled peripheral inflammation in blood as a surrogate marker for neuroinflammation. We selected IL-1 β , IL8, IL-6 and HMGB1 as the specific inflammatory cytokines to examine based on our preliminary findings (see below) as well as support from the literature (e.g., Crews et al., 2013; Leclercq et

al., 2014a; Pascual et al., 2014). We measured basal levels of cytokine gene expression, as well as cytokine expression following an LPS stimulation procedure (Bala et al 2014).



Figure 1. Theoretical model incorporating the role of neuroinflammation within the neural control pathway. This model illustrates the hypothesized impact of chronic alcohol exposure on reward and control networks in the brain. Regarding control systems, the model shows that chronic alcohol exposure leads to neurotoxic effects which influence inhibitory control regions of the brain, including the inferior frontal gyrus (IFC), orbitofrontal gyrus (OFC) and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dlPFC), and these changes are associated with an overall decrease in the connectivity strength of the control network in the brain. The imbalance between the strength of the reward and control network is such that the urge to use substances (reward network) eventually overpowers the ability to control substance use (control network). and this ultimately leads to relapse, thereby perpetuating the cycle of chronic alcohol use. The top left portion of the figure shows in greater depth the molecular mechanisms through which alcohol may exert neurotoxic effects and ultimately damage frontal control regions of the brain. As shown in the large blue box, alcohol is related to neuroinflammation directly, and similarly exerts peripheral effects. Chronic alcohol poses a significant challenge to the immune system, and peripherally, it impairs the intestinal barrier and allows the release of endotoxins and other danger signals, including LPS, which binds to tolllike receptor 4 (TLR4) in the liver. TLR4 triggers signaling pathways, via Nf-kB, that lead to transcription of pro-inflammatory genes and the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, (e.g., cytokines)

into the blood. The mechanism through which peripheral cytokines influence the brain is still not completely understood, but evidence suggests that some cytokine molecules may be able to permeate the blood brain barrier (BBB) either directly (i.e., active transport) or indirectly. In the brain, prolonged microglial activation is associated with neurodegeneration, and may lead to impairments in frontal brain regions including the dIPFC, OFC and IFG. Alcohol also exerts more direct effects on the brain, through directly binding to glial TLR4 receptors, which initiates the same signaling cascade (i.e., via Nf-kB), resulting in an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines circulating in the brain. These substances can have damaging effects on neural cells. In particular, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase and inducible nitric oxide (iNOS) are increased, which leads to reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and subsequent neurotoxicity due to oxidative stress.

Study Aims and Hypotheses

The study was designed to measure the relationships denoted by each path in the model in Figure 2. For the relationships between alcohol and the inflammatory measures, and between alcohol and the cognitive measures, alcohol was examined both as a grouping variable and as a continuous predictor. For significant regression analyses, we conducted follow-up moderation models exploring the potential moderating role of any significant covariates besides alcohol use. If the relationships indicated by either 1) paths A and B, and/or 2) path C (see Figure 2), are significant, we planned to conduct a mediation test, examining whether any of the inflammation variables mediate the relationship between alcohol and cognition. Finally, as an exploratory aim, we examined the correlations between TLR4 methylation and circulating and stimulated cytokines. Specific hypotheses are outlined in detail below.

Aim 1. The first aim of the study was to examine path A (Fig 2). Specifically, we hypothesized that heavy drinkers compared to light drinkers would show greater levels of circulating and LPS-stimulated cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , IL8, IL-6 and HMGB1), as well as greater TLR4 methylation. Further, we hypothesized that alcohol consumption measured continuously would be positively associated with circulating and stimulated cytokines, as well as TLR4 methylation. If any covariates were also known to have theoretical associations with alcohol use

and inflammation), then follow-up tests of moderation were conducted. Importantly, we performed cell counting to assay the number of monocytes present in each sample and thereby ensure that any potential differences in cytokines that we observed between heavy and light drinkers could not be attributed to differences in monocytes. If the heavy and light drinkers demonstrated different monocyte counts, it would be necessary to follow-up with flow cytometry to further characterize the difference in cell populations.

Aim 2. The second aim was to examine path B (Fig. 2). Specifically, we hypothesized that inflammatory markers (i.e., circulating and stimulated cytokines, as well as TLR4 methylation) would positively predict performance on cognitive tests.

Aim 3. For the third aim, we examined path C (Fig.2). We tested the hypothesis that heavy drinkers would show lower performance on a battery of cognitive measures compared to light drinkers, and that alcohol consumption measured continuously would be a significant negative predictor of cognitive performance. We further hypothesized that the relationship between alcohol use and scores on these cognitive measures would be mediated by cytokines.

Exploratory Aim. As an exploratory aim, we tested the hypotheses that methylation within the TLR4 gene would be associated with basal cytokine gene expression (e.g., IL-1 β , IL8, IL-6 and HMGB1), as well as with cytokine expression after an LPS stimulation procedure. Given that methylation is often associated with decreased expression of the protein product (Newell-Price, Clark, & King, 2000), we hypothesized that greater TLR4 methylation would be associated with decreased circulating and stimulated cytokines.



Figure 2. Model depicting the 3 relationships hypothesized in primary study aims.

Preliminary Studies

Alcohol and inflammation. We recently examined the association between proinflammatory cytokines in blood and alcohol use phenotypes. Although our sample size was small and the blood samples analyzed were several years old, we still observed a number of significant correlations between clinical alcohol phenotypes and plasma inflammatory markers. In particular, we found that interleukin-8 (IL-8) was significantly correlated with failed control over drinking (r=.543, p=.002). We also found moderate correlations between neural connectivity within executive control brain regions and plasma IL-8 levels (r = -.24 to r=-.55) (Hutchison et al., unpublished data). To follow up on these preliminary findings, we measured expression of IL-8 in the present study.

Alcohol, TLR4 and Brain Volume. We examined whether TLR4 methylation moderates the relationship between alcohol use and gray matter (GM) within particular regions of the brain that were previously identified as being negatively associated with alcohol use (Thayer et al., 2016). In these analyses, we examined TLR4 methylation and GM thickness in a large sample (*N*=707; 441 male) of adults (ages 18-56) reporting a range of AUD severity (mean AUDIT score=13.18; *SD*=8.02). We ran a series of Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression models to regress GM separately in four bilateral brain regions (precuneus, lateral orbitofrontal, inferior parietal and superior temporal) on alcohol use variables, TLR4 methylation, and the Alcohol by TLR4 methylation interaction, controlling for demographic, psychological and other substance use variables. We observed a significant Alcohol by TLR4 methylation interaction in the equations modeling left precuneus and right inferior parietal GM as the dependent variables. Follow-up analyses examining the nature of these interactions indicated the presence of a significant negative association between alcohol and precuneus and inferior parietal GM in individuals with low TLR4 methylation, but no relationship between alcohol and GM in the high methylation group. Although preliminary, these findings suggest that TLR4 methylation may be protective against the damage conferred by alcohol on precuneus and inferior parietal GM, thereby implicating TLR4 for further investigation as a possible AUD treatment target (Karoly et al., in press).

TLR4 Methylation and Subjective Responses to Alcohol. In a similar study, we sought to elucidate the relationship between TLR4 methylation and subjective responses to alcohol, as this could potentially shed light on the role of TLR4 in promoting AUDs, and thereby highlight the potential of TLR4 modulation as a treatment option. We used latent growth models to examine the relationship between TLR4 methylation (collected from saliva samples) and subjective responses during an intravenous alcohol infusion session across 221 heavy and light-to-moderate drinkers. Across the entire sample, TLR4 methylation was associated with greater baseline happiness, and a greater increase in happiness over the course of the infusion. Among heavy drinkers, TLR4 methylation was associated with lower levels of baseline stimulation and tension, but greater increases in stimulation during the infusion. These findings indicate that

TLR4 methylation is associated with not only differences in baseline affect, but also changes in subjective arousal and affective states during acute alcohol intoxication, which differ based on self-reported levels of alcohol use severity. Overall, these data support TLR4's potentially important role in influencing subjective responses to alcohol, and indicate a need for further research on its potential as a pharmacological treatment target (Karoly et al., under review).

CHAPTER II

METHOD

Study Design

The study is a non-equivalent control group cross-sectional design, including two selfselected groups (heavy drinkers vs. light drinkers). The study involves a single experimental session in which participants provided a blood sample, completed a battery of assessments of psychological and substance use factors and a battery of cognitive assessments. A detailed outline of all study assessments is provided below.

Power Analysis

Using G*Power 3.1 (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007), sample size calculations were computed for a 2-group comparison, using a one-tailed alpha level of .05 (given our directional hypotheses that the heavy drinking group will exhibit greater inflammation), at a power level of .80 (Cohen, 1988). Sample size was selected to permit analysis of hypotheses from the primary aim (aim 1) regarding comparison of heavy and light drinkers on expression of inflammatory cytokines.

Our preliminary data analysis examining the relationship between blood cytokines and alcohol dependence found correlations between r=.2 to r=.5, which corresponds with a medium to large effect size (Cohen, 2013). Similar effect sizes were found in our prior analyses of DNA methylation among heavy drinkers. Based on this work, we anticipated the magnitude of the effect comparing inflammatory markers between the two groups in the present study to be moderate (i.e., Cohen's d=.5) to large (i.e., Cohen's d=.8)

Anticipating a moderate effect size for a between factors, two group comparison over a single time point, the study requires 102 participants (51 in each group) to test the first hypothesis. However, anticipating the magnitude of the effect to be large (Cohen's d=.8), 21 participants are needed in each group (n=42 total). Assuming the magnitude of the effect to be between medium and large (Cohen's d=.65), a total of 60 participants are needed, with 30 per group. Thus, to be somewhat more conservative, we planned to recruit a total of 80 participants (40 heavy drinkers and 40 light drinkers).

Similarly, anticipating a moderate effect size (f^2 =.15) for a linear multiple regression, fixed model, with an R-squared deviation from zero, including 3 predictors (e.g., alcohol use and 2 covariates), the proposed study requires a total of 77 participants. Thus, we planned to obtain approximately 80 subjects total. Note that we are powering the main effect, rather than attempting to power an interaction in the case of a moderation model, given the difficulty of adequately powering an interaction term (McClelland & Judd, 1993).

Subject Selection

A total of 82 male and female participants between the ages of 25-40 were recruited from the greater Boulder-Denver area. We recruited 43 heavy drinkers, defined as drinking 5 or more drinks (4 or more drinks for women) on the same occasion on at least 5 days per month. We also recruited 39 light drinkers, defined as consuming no more than two alcoholic drinks per occasion, and drinking on no more than two days per week. Age range was selected to minimize the impact of development and aging on inflammatory markers and cognitive function (Barrientos, Frank, Watkins, & Maier, 2010; Jaspan, Lawn, Safrit, & Bekker, 2006).

Regarding eligibility for this study, we applied exclusionary criteria based on having or being treated for serious medical or mental illness (e.g., cancer, psychotic spectrum disorders), reporting recent substance/medication use and pregnancy. Specific inclusion criteria for the present study were: (1) Age(s) 25-40; (2) Non-every day smoker and/or tobacco user; (i.e. smoking less than 4 days out of the week; (3) No serious medical illness or injury within past 6 months; (4) Not on psychotropic medications and not currently under treatment for any psychiatric and/or neurological disorder; (5) Never received a diagnosis of bipolar disorder or a diagnosis of psychotic spectrum disorder; (6) Never received a diagnosis of a neurological disorder (e.g. epilepsy); (7) No use of cocaine, methamphetamine, heroin or other illicit drugs (except marijuana) in the previous 60 days (assessed on the phone screen and TLFB interview); (8) Never received treatment of any kind for alcohol abuse; (9) Being either a heavy drinker, defined as drinking 5 or more drinks (4 or more drinks for women) on the same occasion on at least 5 days in the 30 days prior to beginning the study, or a light drinker, defined as consuming no more than two alcoholic drinks per occasion, and drinking on no more than two days per week during the 30 days prior to beginning the study. Subjects were also asked on the phone screen whether their drinking patterns had been relatively consistent over the past year, and individuals for whom this was not the case were screened out (e.g., if a subject had been a heavy drinker previously and only recently cut down to light drinking).

Recruitment and Eligibility Screening. Participants were recruited from the greater Boulder County area through flyers and advertisements placed around the community and in local newspapers and online web forums such as craigslist. Recruitment materials described the opportunity to participate in a study about alcohol use. The advertisements also indicated the opportunity to earn \$50 in cash for participation. The advertisements instructed interested individuals to call a toll-free number and indicate their interest in participating in the study.

Individuals who indicated interest in participating in the study were then taken through an initial phone-screening session to determine eligibility. In the pre-screening process, a study research coordinator or research assistant read an IRB approved phone screening script to all interested participants. These screening materials were used to determine whether the interested individual was eligible to participant in the study, according to the specific exclusion/inclusion criteria outlined above. Prior to completing the phone-screen, participants were informed that they would be asked questions regarding substance use behavior, and it was ensured that the participants were in an environment in which they were comfortable answering such questions. They were given the option of rescheduling the phone screening session if this was not the case. Participants were also informed that they should not answer any question that makes them uncomfortable, but that failing to answer some questions may result in being ineligible to participate in the study. Following completion of the screening questions, the study personnel conducting the interview read information about the study to the participant, and gave them an opportunity to ask questions about their potential participation in the research. All individuals deemed eligible by the phone screen were informed of the study procedures and assessments, including the self-report measures, cognitive assessments and blood collection. They were also informed of any potential risks involved with participating in the study. All eligible individuals who were interested in participating were scheduled for their appointment upon verbal indication of their willingness to participate in the study. These individuals were also sent an e-mail that included the time and date of their appointment as well as directions informing them how to get to the Center for Innovation and Creativity (CINC), where the study takes place.

Study Procedures

Once qualified participants arrived at the CINC, they (1) completed an informed consent form; (2) completed a breath alcohol test; (3) provided a blood sample for assays of peripheral inflammatory markers; (4) completed computerized and researcher-administered questionnaires and assessments and (5) completed a cognitive testing battery.

Upon arrival at the CINC, participants were met by a member of the study team (i.e., a research assistant or graduate student) who escorted them to a private consultation room. Here, participants were asked to complete the informed consent form. Prior to asking the participant to sign the form, the trained member of the study team and the participant had a discussion regarding the research study. Additionally, the research assistant or graduate student was available to answer any questions the participant had about the study. Participation was clearly stated as voluntary, with the option to withdraw from the study at any time. There was no deception involved with any aspect of this study. After discussing the study and going over the consent form with the researcher, the participant signed the informed consent document.

To ensure that participants were not currently under the influence of any substances while completing the study, they were asked ahead of time to refrain from drinking alcohol within 48 hours, smoking marijuana within 6 hours or smoking cigarettes within 2 hours of the session. At the start of this session, all participants were breathalyzed to ensure that they had no alcohol in their systems. Only participants with a breath alcohol level (BrAC) of zero were allowed to participate in the study. Any participant who blew a BrAC over 0.00 was given one chance to reschedule his or her appointment for the next day. If s/he came in the next day with a breath alcohol greater than 0.00 then this session was counted as "missed." If a subject accumulated a "missed" study session, they were automatically dropped from the study on the grounds that they

failed to follow explicit study directions properly. Only one subject was dropped from the study due to blowing a BrAC over 0.00. Participants received no payment if a session was terminated due to failure to follow the abstinence instructions; they were informed of this contingency during the phone screening when their session was scheduled.

Following a successful pass of the BrAC screen, participants were asked to provide a small sample of blood for the inflammatory markers analysis. This allowed us to examine the relationship between peripheral inflammation, epigenetics and alcohol use. It is important to note that a blood sample was necessary to measure these markers (e.g. cytokines). The blood samples were collected by a member of our research lab who is certified in phlebotomy. The blood draw procedures involved collecting venous blood (up to 63 mL, or 4.26 tablespoons) through venipuncture of a peripheral arm vein using standard, sterile phlebotomy techniques. The samples were tested for inflammatory cytokine levels using equipment in our lab facility at the CINC.

Following the blood draw, participants were asked to fill out computerized baseline questionnaires, and a trained research assistant administered a Time Line Follow Back (TLFB) interview to the participant. Next, the participant completed a battery of cognitive assessments. Participants received payment upon completing the blood draw and cognitive battery and questionnaires.

Assessments and Measures

Self-Report Measures

The measures listed below are drawn from a standard assessment battery administered to alcohol dependent subjects in our laboratory. Several of these measures are specifically intended to generate scores that could be used as covariates in planned statistical analyses (e.g., sleep, stress, aerobic exercise and fruit and vegetable consumption measures), given that these instruments all measure variables known to impact inflammation, epigenetics and/or cognitive performance. However, we also included several standard measures of alcohol use and psychological functioning to allow for some flexibility in the potential follow-up analyses that could be conducted using these data in the future. In regression analyses, covariates were included if they demonstrated at least a theoretical association with the dependent variable in each model (i.e., inflammation, epigenetics or cognitive performance), and demonstrated significant relationships with the independent variables in a given model within the present sample (as indicated in Tables 2-4). For each self-report measure discussed below, potential associations with inflammation, epigenetics and/or cognitive performance have been indicated.

Demographics. A demographics questionnaire was used to collect information on age, sex, marital status, SES, occupation, income, education, and race. Age has been shown to impact both inflammation (Chung et al., 2009) and cognition (Salthouse, 2013), and gender differences in inflammation have been observed in the context of alcohol use (Pai et al., 2006).

Quantity/Frequency of Alcohol Use. Alcohol use was evaluated with a variation of the measure used by White and Labouvie (White & Labouvie, 1989). First, participants are asked if they have ever had an alcoholic drink (with instructions that define one alcoholic drink as "one beer, one glass of wine, or one serving of hard liquor either by itself or in a mixed drink"). All participants recruited for this study should answer yes to this question, given that alcohol use was part of the inclusion criteria. Participants are then asked to rate: (1) their frequency of use in the last three months on a 9-point scale ranging from "never" to "every day", (2) their typical quantity of drinks in one sitting on a 10-point scale ranging from "no drinks" to "more than 20

drinks", and (3) their frequency of getting drunk when drinking in the past three months on a 5point scale ranging from "never" to "always."

Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). The AUDIT (Saunders, Aasland, Babor, de la Fuente, & Grant, 1993) was used to detect less severe problem drinkers and addresses both current problems (problems within the last 3 months) and problems across an individual's lifetime. The AUDIT consists of ten questions that cover such domains as alcohol consumption, drinking behavior, adverse psychological reactions, and alcohol-related problems ($\alpha = .855$).

Drinking History Questionnaire. Drinking History is measured with 9 items assessing lifetime drinking history such as current drinking, age of onset, and number of previous attempts to quit/reduce drinking. For the present study, we only examined the drinking onset item "How old were you when you started to drink regularly?"

Alcohol Dependence Scale (ADS). The ADS has been used widely and found to have excellent predictive value with respect to DSM diagnosis (Kivlahan, Sher, & Donovan, 1989) and was used to assess severity of alcohol use symptoms ($\alpha = .838$).

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II). The BDI-II (Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996) is a 21-item measure of depression symptom severity in the past two weeks. BDI-II scores range between 0 and 63, with categorical depression ratings of "minimal" (0–13), "mild" (14–19), "moderate" (20–28), and "severe" (29–63) (α = .920). Depression is associated with inflammation (Yirmiya, 2000) and cognitive performance (McDermott & Ebmeier, 2009). Thus, BDI scores were used as covariates when appropriate in these analyses.

Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI). The BAI (Beck & Steer, 1991) consists of 21 items, each describing a common symptom of anxiety. The items are summed to obtain a total score that can range from 0 to 63 (α = .921).
Fruit and Vegetable Screener (the "All-Day" Version). This 10-item measure was developed by the National Cancer Institute to assess how many times in the previous month subjects consumed different types of fruits and vegetables, including potion size questions for every food item. This measure was shown to be a useful estimate for obtaining median intakes of fruit and vegetable servings in U.S. populations (Thompson et al., 2002). Fruit and vegetable consumption has been shown to influence inflammation (e.g., Holt et al., 2009), and dietary factors have also been linked with epigenetic changes (see Hardy & Tollefsbol, 2011) and cognitive function (Lourida, et al., 2013). Thus, the inclusion of this measure allows diet to be controlled for in regression analyses ($\alpha = .768$). In all analyses, a total sum score of all daily fruits and vegetable servings was used.

Voluntary Aerobic Exercise Questionnaire (VAEQ). The VAEQ assesses levels of voluntary exercise (Bryan and Rocheleau, 2002). Participants indicate how frequently they engaged in exercise activities in the past 3 months and past week. The exercise composite score used in these analyses was composed of 4 items: (i) "In the past 3 months, what is the average number of days per week that you engaged in aerobic exercise?" (ii) "In the past 3 months, what is the average number of total minutes per week that you engaged in aerobic exercise?" (iii) "In the past 3 months, what is the average number of total minutes per week that you engaged in aerobic exercise?" (iii) "In the past week, how many days did you engage in aerobic exercise?" and (iv) "In the past week, what is the total number of minutes that you engaged in aerobic exercise?" This measure has been used to quantify exercise participation in our previous alcohol studies (Karoly et al., 2013). Given that exercise may impact inflammation (see Woods, Vieira, & Keylock, 2009) and epigenetics (see Bryan, Magnan, Hooper, Harlaar, & Hutchison, 2013; Ntanasis-Stathopoulos, Tzanninis, Philippou, & Koutsilieris, 2013), this measure allowed us to control for exercise behavior in inflammation and epigenetic analyses ($\alpha = .940$).

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). The PSQI (Buysse, Reynolds, Monk, Berman, & Kupfer, 1989) is a 19-item self-report scale that measures sleep quality over the past month. The 19 self-related items are combined to form seven "component" scores, each of which has a range of 0-3 points. In all cases, a score of "0" indicates no difficulty, while a score of "3" indicates severe difficulty. The seven component scores are then added to yield one "global" score, with a range of 0-21 points. In the present study, we controlled for sleep duration, given that sleep is known to be associated with both inflammation (e.g., Patel et al., 2009) and epigenetic factors (see Qureshi & Mehler, 2014). Thus, the sleep duration subscale was used as a covariate in epigenetic and inflammation analyses ($\alpha = .609$).

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). The PSS (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983) is a 14-item scale that measures the degree to which situations in someone's life are perceived as stressful. Stress is a known correlate of substance use and abuse. Participants' perceived stress levels may be associated with inflammatory processes (e.g., Hart & Kamm, 2002), epigenetic changes (see Nestler, 2012) and cognitive function (McEwen & Sapolsky, 1995). Thus, this measure was collected so that we could control for stress in regression analyses ($\alpha = .275$).

Timeline Follow Back (TLFB). The TLFB (Sobell, Sobell, & Maisto, 1979) is an assessment method that obtains estimates of daily alcohol, cigarette, and drug use. The TLFB has been shown to have good psychometric characteristics with a variety of drinker groups and can generate variables that provide a wide range of information about an individual's drinking (e.g., pattern, variability, and magnitude of drinking). This instrument requires subjects to recall from memory the number of drinks consumed for each day over the prior 90 days as well as their use of tobacco products and recreational drugs. Studies with alcoholic dependent individuals have shown this instrument to be reliable in assessing drinking frequencies and other behaviors such as arrests and hospitalizations (Sobell et al., 1979). We used TLFB cannabis days as a covariate in regression analyses, given the established associations between cannabis use and inflammation (Keen, Pereira, & Latimer, 2014) and cognitive performance (Curran et al., 2016).

Cognitive Assessments.

To assess cognitive function, we administered a battery of tests that assess attention and working memory, two critical components of executive function. These tests were selected from the NIH Toolbox, which includes a variety of state of the art cognitive assessments with high reliability and validity. All NIH Toolbox measures have been normed and validated across the lifespan in participants ages 3-85. The NIH Toolbox validation studies were conducted across this entire age range, typically including 450-500 subjects. Further, validation involved statistically comparing results from the NIH Toolbox against existing "gold standard" measures, whenever available. For each test, the mean score is 100, with a standard deviation of 15. The cognitive battery included in the present study includes the following tests:

Flanker Inhibitory Control and Attention Task. The Flanker is a measure of the attention and inhibitory control components of executive function. Specifically, this test measures the allocation of one's limited capacities to deal with an abundance of environmental stimulation. The Flanker requires the participant to focus on one particular stimulus on the screen while inhibiting attention to the stimuli flanking it.

The List Sorting Working Memory Test. This task assesses working memory, which refers to the capacity of an individual to hold information in a short-term buffer and manipulate the information. The task requires the participant to recall and sequence different visual and auditory stimuli. Pictures of different foods and animals are displayed with both an accompanying audio recording and written text that names the item. The participant is asked to say the items back to the examiner in size order from smallest to largest.

Overall, this battery covers cognitive domains that have been suggested to be related to inflammation and alcohol use (e.g., Ambrose, Bowden, & Whelan, 2001; Leclercq et al., 2012).

Blood Procedures

Collection of Blood Samples

Blood samples were collected by a member of our research team who has completed a certified training in phlebotomy. Up to 63 mL (4.26 tablespoons) of blood was collected from each subject to provide adequate samples of serum, plasma, and whole blood for all inflammation and epigenetic assays. In some cases, subjects were not able to provide the full 63 mL due to dehydration or discomfort with the blood draw.

LPS Stimulation of Whole Blood

Fresh whole blood (10 mL) was added to a 50 mL conical tube and diluted 1:1 with warm RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich) with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher). After gently mixing, 3 mL of blood was added to each well in a 6-well culture plate (Thermo Fisher). Three wells were stimulated with 25 ng/ml of LPS (Sigma-Aldrich) and the same volume of PBS that was used to dissolve LPS was added to the remaining three wells as a control. The culture plate was incubated for 24 hours at 37°C, 5% CO2. After the 24-hour incubation period, the cell count was first measured from each condition (LPS and control) as described in these methods. Blood from each condition was gently mixed inside each well and transferred to a 15 mL conical tube and centrifuged at 400xg for 15 minutes to separate plasma. The upper plasma layer from each condition was aliquoted for each enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and stored at - 80°C for analyses.

Determining Cell Population

The total PBMC and monocyte count were measured before and after LPS treatment. Immediately after blood collection, 200 μ l of whole blood was resuspended in 2 ml of red blood cell (RBC) lysis buffer (Qiagen), gently mixed, and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were centrifuged (400xg, 5 min) to remove the lysis buffer. The cell pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. A small volume of the resuspended cells (20 μ l) was transferred into a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and diluted 1:10 in PBS. Cells were counted using the Millipore Scepter 2.0 automated cell counter with a 40 μ m sensor tip. The Millipore Scepter utilizes the Coulter principle to differentiate cells based on cell size (diameter). Cell counts and size distributions are displayed as a histogram on the Scepter monitor. Cell counts determined using this method are comparable to cell counts obtained with Flow Cytometry (Cappione, Crosslet, Thirumalapura & Hoover, 2011). Previously reported cell size ranges for PBMC (7-12 μ m) and monocytes (9-12 μ m) were used to determine their concentration present in the sample. The same procedure was performed on the LPS-treated and untreated cultured blood.

Isolation and Cryopreservation of PBMC

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated by Histopaque-1077 density gradient centrifugation (Sigma) and cryopreserved in FBS with 10% DMSO to potentially perform flow cytometry in the future and to obtain a more precise cell count. In lieu of flow cytometry, isolated PBMC's were counted using the Millipore Scepter 2.0 cell counter.

Within one hour after blood collection, 10 ml of blood was diluted 1:1 with PBS and gently layered onto 10 ml of room temperature Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) in a 50 ml conical tube and centrifuged (500xg, 20 min) with no brake. Following centrifugation, the PBMC layer was carefully removed using a Pasteur pipette and transferred to a new 15 ml tube.

The PBMC fraction was washed using 6 ml of PBS and centrifuged (400xg, 10 min). Wash step was repeated once. The PBMC pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of PBS and 20 μ l of the cell suspension was transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and diluted 1:10 with PBS and the cell count was determined using the Millipore Scepter 2.0.

The remaining cell suspension was centrifuged (400xg, 10 min) and the cell pellet was resuspended in media consisting of FBS with 10% DMSO and stored at -80°C. In order to obtain an optimal freezing rate for cell preservation, the cell sample was cooled at a rate of -1°C per minute using a Mr. FrostyTM freezing container (Thermo Scientific).

Circulating Cytokine Assays

Previous studies in animals and humans (Bala et al., 2014; Mayfield et al., 2013), as well as our own preliminary data, suggest that cytokine activation is associated with the pathophysiology of AUDs. Using our blood samples, circulating levels of IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8 were measured in cultured whole blood.

Within 30 minutes of blood collection, plasma was separated from blood cells by centrifugation (1000xg, 15 minutes). Plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80°C until immunoassays were performed. Circulating plasma levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 were measured using a quantitative high-sensitivity sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique (Quantikine HS ELISA, R&D Systems), following the manufacturer's instructions. Prior to performing the assay, samples and reagents were brought to room temperature (18-25°C) without additional heating. Plasma IL-1 β concentration was measured using IL-1 beta/IL-1F2 Quantikine HS ELISA, IL-6 using Human IL-6 Quantikine HS ELISA, and IL-8 using Human CXCL8/IL-8 Quantikine HS ELISA. Plasma samples were undiluted, ran in duplicate, and measured using a microplate reader Elx800 (Biotek Inc, Winooski, VT) set to the wavelength suggested by the manufacturer.

LPS-Stimulated Whole Blood Immunoassays

IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 concentrations in LPS-stimulated blood were quantified using DuoSet ELISA Development System kits (R&D Systems) following the manufacturer's instructions. As previously described above, blood was collected in EDTA tubes and centrifuged (1000×g, 15 min) within 30 minutes of collection to separate plasma. Plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80°C. Prior to performing the assay, samples and reagents were brought to room temperature (18-25°C) without additional heating. Plasma was diluted 1:10 in reagent diluent to measure IL-1 β , diluted 1:20 to measure IL-6, and 1:5 to measure IL-8. The absorbance was read using a microplate reader Elx800 at 450 nm.

HMGB1 Production

Circulating HMGB1 concentration in plasma, as well as LPS-stimulated HMGB1 in plasma, were quantitated by Human HMG1/HMGB1 sandwich ELISA assay (LifeSpan Biosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For circulating assays, plasma was diluted 1:400 in sample diluent and measured using a microplate reader Elx800 at 450 nm. For LPS-stimulated assays, plasma was diluted 1:100 in sample diluent.

DNA Extraction and Storage

Genomic DNA was isolated from 10 ml of blood collected in EDTA tubes using Gentra Purgene Blood Kit (Gentra, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Isolated DNA was stored in 1 ml of DNA hydration solution in cryovials at -80°C

Bisulfite Sequencing / Estimation of Methylation

Blood samples were assayed to measure methylation of certain CpG sites within the inflammatory gene TLR4. Methylation of CpG sites within this gene has been previously demonstrated to be associated with alcohol dependence (Hagerty et al., 2016).

To determine the methylation of CpG sites near the TLR4 promotor, pyrosequencing was performed at EpigenDX (Worcester, MA). Pyrosequencing quantitatively monitors the real-time incorporation of nucleotides through the enzymatic conversion of released pyrophosphate into a proportional light signal (Tost & Gut, 2007). The assay covered 4 CG dinucleotides in the first exon after the 5' untranslated transcription start site, ranging from +27 to +54 in reference to the translational start site (Figure 3). Site analysis was based on the ability to generate primers located around CpG islands and that meet the requirements for accurate pyrosequencing. All primers are owned by EpigenDx.



Figure 3. Assayed CpG sites fell within the first exon of the TLR4 gene. Selected CpG sites were chosen on the basis of their close proximity to the transcription start site (TSS) and location within an important regulatory region of the gene.

Bisulfite treatment by EpigenDx was performed on 500 ng of genomic DNA using a proprietary bisulfite salt solution. DNA is diluted to 45 μ L and 5 μ L of 3N NaOH is added followed by a 30-minute incubation at 42 °C to denature the DNA. 100 μ L of bisulfite salt solution is added to the DNA and incubated for 14 hours at 50°C. Bisulfite treated DNA is purified using Zymogen DNA columns and eluted 20 μ l of T1E0.2 8.0 and 1 μ l of it is used for

each PCR. PCR was performed with 0.2 μM of each primer and one of the PCR primers was biotinylated to purify the final PCR product using Sepharose beads. The PCR product was bound to Streptavidin Sepharose HP (GE Healthcare Life Sciences), and the Sepharose beads containing the immobilized PCR product were purified, washed and denatured using a 0.2 M NaOH solution and rewashed all using the Pyrosequencing Vacuum Prep Tool (Pyrosequencing, Qiagen). 0.2 μM pyrosequencing primer was annealed to the purified single-stranded PCR product. 10 μl of the PCR products were sequenced by Pyrosequencing PSQ96 HS System (Pyrosequencing, Qiagen) following manufacturer instructions (Pyrosequencing, Qiagen). The methylation status of each locus was analyzed individually as a T/C SNP using QCpG software (Pyrosequencing, Qiagen) (Brakensiek, Wingen, Langer, Kreipe, & Lehmann, 2007; England & Pettersson, 2005; Liu et al., 2006).

Analyzed DNA was presented as percent methylation at each of the four TLR4 CpG sites. The four TLR4 methylation variables were all significantly correlated (all *rs* between .48-.68). Thus, the percent methylation at each CpG was averaged to form the TLR4 average methylation score used in all analyses. Using the average of these four highly correlated variables is preferable to examining each methylation site independently to reduce measurement error and decrease the likelihood of Type I error.

Statistical Analysis Plan.

Analyses of Specific Aims. Study hypothesis 1 is a test of path A (Figure 2), and states that heavy drinkers as compared to light drinkers will exhibit greater levels of basal cytokine expression, greater cytokine expression in response to LPS stimulation, and increased TLR4 methylation. First, we examined the main effect of drinking group on cytokine expression using one-way ANOVA. To further explore the relationship between drinking and cytokines and TLR4, we conducted a series of ordinary least squares (OLS) multiple regressions in which we separately regressed circulating and stimulated cytokines and TLR4 methylation on an alcohol consumption measured by the TLFB, as well as any covariates (i.e., self-report variables that were significantly different between drinking groups). For any significant models, we tested moderators as appropriate, by creating an interaction term in regression models. Moderators were selected based on whether these variables have previously demonstrated a theoretical association with both alcohol use and inflammation, and whether they demonstrated an association with alcohol use in the present sample, given that correlations between alcohol consumption and covariates increase the likelihood of detecting moderation effects (see McClelland & Judd, 1993).

Aim 2 is a test of path B (Fig. 2). We examined whether any of the biological inflammatory variables (e.g., circulating or stimulated cytokines or TLR4 methylation) predicted scores on cognitive measures. We used a series of OLS regressions to examine each cytokine separately as a predictor of the two NIH toolbox measures of interest, including any covariates that demonstrated a significant association with inflammatory variables and theoretical associations with cognitive variables.

For Aim 3, we examined path C (Figure 2) by comparing the heavy and light drinking groups on their performance on tests from our cognitive battery using a one-way ANOVA. As a follow-up, we used a regression to examine whether scores on a continuous measure of drinking predict scores on the cognitive measures. If these relationships were significant, we planned to examine whether the relationship between drinking and cognitive performance was mediated by stimulated or circulating cytokines. As exploratory hypotheses, we tested whether methylation of CpG sites within TLR4 is associated with circulating and stimulated levels of inflammatory cytokines using simple correlations.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics and Available Data

We collected a total of N=82 subjects (43 recruited as heavy drinkers and 39 recruited as light drinkers). Table 1 presents the means and standard deviations for various demographic variables, drinking measure and other potential covariates. Overall means (and SDs) are included, and these values are also provided for heavy and light drinking groups. All significant group differences are indicated in Table 1. Note that although subjects were screened out for illicit drug use on the phone screen, 10 people reported illicit drug use at least once during the past 90 days on the TLFB. Given that this was not regular use, and to preserve sample size, we allowed these individuals to remain in the analysis. However, one subject reported regular use of an illicit substance, so this individual was also dropped from all analyses.

Table 1

	Overall	Heavy Drinkers	Light Drinkers
Demographic Variable	Sample (n=82)	(n=43)	(n=39)
	Mean (SD) or	Mean (SD) or	Mean (SD) or
	Number (%)	Number (%)	Number (%)
Age	29.91 (4.5)	30.28 (4.9)	29.53 (4.2)
Gender (male)	39 (47.6%)	27 (62.8%)**	12 (30.7%)**
Race			
American Indian/Alaska Native	1 (1.2%)	1(2.2%)	0 (0%)
Asian	8 (9.5%)	2 (4.4%)	6 (15.4%)
African American	3 (3.6%)	3 (6.7%)	0 (0%)
White	68 (81.9%)	34 (79.0%)	33 (84.6%)
Mixed	3 (3.6%)	3 (6.7%)	0 (0%)
DHQ Age of Drinking Onset	19.42 (2.4)	19.00 (2.3)	19.97 (2.4)
AUDIT Consumption	5.93 (2.9)	7.77 (2.3)***	3.92 (2.1)***
ADS total	6.32 (4.6)	7.8 (4.1)**	4.77(4.6)**

Sample Demographics

TLFB Drinks/Drinking Day	3.48 (2.5)	4.56 (2.5)*** ^a	2.28 (2.0)*** ^a
BDI	9.40 (8.1)	10.26 (7.7)	8.47 (8.5)
BAI	6.39 (7.2)	6.08 (6.6)	6.74 (7.9)
TLFB Cannabis Days	22.30 (33.4)	38.93 (37.7) ^{*a}	12.90 (25.9) ^{*a}
TLFB Number of Cigarettes	8.18 (33.9)	13.95 (45.9) ^a	1.83 (6.3) ^a
PSQI Sleep Duration	6.83 (1.2)	6.69 (1.3)	6.98 (1.1)
PSS Total	24.5 (8.6)	25.1 (8.8)	23.91 (8.5)
Daily Fruit/Veg	4.53 (3.1)	4.06 (2.6)	5.06 (3.6)
VAEQ Exercise Days/Week	3.54 (2.1)	3.5 (2.0)	3.59 (2.2)

Note. Significant group differences indicated by *** p <.001, **p<.01, * p<.05. ^aWelch's p value used to determine significant group differences due to violation of heterogeneity of variances assumption. DHQ=Drinking History Questionnaire, AUDIT=Alcohol Consumption Identification Test, ADS=Alcohol Dependence Scale, TLFB=Timeline Followback, BDI=Beck Depression Inventory, BAI=Beck Anxiety Inventory, PSQI=Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, PSS= Perceived Stress Scale, VAEQ=Voluntary Aerobic Exercise Questionnaire

Regarding availability of data points across subjects, there were 11 subjects for whom we did not collect sufficient plasma to test circulating cytokine levels using the high-sensitivity ELISA kits. In addition, there were 3 subjects for whom we could not draw blood for various reasons (e.g., dehydration), so these individuals only have self-report and cognitive data. Two individuals do not have complete cognitive data due to technical errors occurring during administration of the cognitive batteries.

Cytokine Assay Results

Cell Count. To ensure that differences in cytokines were not due to differences in total number of monocytes, we measured total number of PBMCs, monocytes and lymphocytes in fresh whole blood, as well as post-incubation control and post-incubation LPS stimulated samples. However, we were only able to accurately determine monocyte count in a subset of the sample (n=56), thus normalization of cytokine data for the primary study analyses would have resulted in a significant decrease in sample size. Although the Scepter cell counting method is comparable to Flow Cytometry (Cappione, Crosslet, Thirumalapura & Hoover, 2011), it is not as

sensitive or precise, and is thus less ideal for normalization. Instead of normalizing all data for analyses, we compared Scepter-based cell counts between heavy and light drinking individuals in the subsample for whom cell counts were available (n=56). No significant group differences in PBMCs, monocytes or lymphocytes were observed across any of these sample types. We concluded that any differences in cytokines likely cannot be attributed to differences in total number of monocytes. PBMCs were cryopreserved so that Flow Cytometry could potentially be performed to quantify and differentiate cell populations within the present sample in the future.

High Sensitivity ELISA Data for Circulating Cytokines. Of the 82 subjects included in the study, 11 individuals did not have sufficient plasma and 3 individuals did not provide a blood sample. Thus, there were a total of 68 individuals run on the HS ELISA kits. For each cytokine, two plates were assayed. For IL-6, n=65 (one subject who did not have complete cognitive data was not run at all due to having to re-run numerous samples that failed to be detected on the first run, and 2 outliers [defined as individuals whose data points were more than 3 standard deviations above or below the mean] were removed). For IL-8, n=64 (two subjects without complete cognitive data were not run at all due to having to re-run numerous samples that failed to be detected on the first run, 1 subject [a light drinker] had an IL-8 concentration that was too low to detect, and 1 outlier was removed). For IL-1 β , n= 60 (1 subject without cognitive data was not run, and 7 subjects [5 heavy drinkers and 2 light drinkers] had IL-1 β concentrations that were too low to detect). For circulating HMGB1, n=67 (1 outlier was removed). Cytokine concentrations are reported in pg/mL

ELISA Data for LPS-Stimulated Cytokines. To extend findings from the circulating cytokine assay, the LPS-stimulated assay was run on a subset of samples (n=64). For IL-8, n=62 (one individual [a heavy drinker] had concentrations that were too low to detect and 1 outlier was

removed). For IL-6, n=60, (3 individuals [2 heavy and 1 light drinker] had concentrations that were too low to detect, and 1 outlier was removed). For IL-1 β , n=61 (one individual [a heavy drinker] had concentrations that were too low to detect and 2 outliers were removed). For LPS-stimulated HMGB1, n=57 (2 individuals had concentrations too low to detect, and 5 individuals were not run due to insufficient plasma). Cytokine concentrations are reported in pg/mL.

Correlations Between Outcome Variables and Self-Report Measures

Self-report data were collected on variables that have been theoretically and empirically linked to inflammation, epigenetics, and/or cognitive performance, including age (Chung et al., 2009; Salthouse, 2013), gender (Pai et al., 2006), cardiovascular exercise (Woods et al., 2009), stress (Hart & Kamm, 2002; McEwen & Sapolsky, 1995), sleep (Patel et al., 2009), diet (Holt et al., 2009; Lourida et al., 2013), cigarette (Van der Vaart et al., 2005) and cannabis (Curran et al., 2016; Keen, Pereira, & Latimer, 2014) use, as well as age of onset of regular drinking (Pascual et al., 2014), and depression (McDermott & Ebmeier, 2009; Yirmiya, 2000). We examined correlations between these variables and each outcome variable (circulating cytokines, LPSstimulated cytokines, TLR4 methylation and cognitive variables). These correlations are listed in Tables 2-4. Note that due to an error in Qualtrics survey programming, 15 of the initial subjects run through the study did not complete measures of BDI, BAI, diet, sleep, exercise or stress.

Table 2

Pearson correlations between circulating cytokines and demographic, psychological and substance use variables

	Circulating	Circulating	Circulating	Circulating
Variable	IL-8	IL-6	IL-1β	HMGB1

Age	.429**	.326**	.469**	-0.221
Gender (male =1)	0.014 ^a	0.078^{a}	0.196 ^a	-0.005 ^a
BDI Total	0.164	0.251	-0.046	0.109
BAI Total	0.154	0.046	-0.014	0.025
DHQ Age Drinking				
Onset	-0.11	-0.223	0.157	0.046
TLFB Cannabis Days	-0.174	-0.049	324*	0.21
TLFB Num Cigs	0.026	-0.154	-0.161	0.078
PSQI Sleep Duration	0.036	-0.111	0.048	0.133
PSS Total	.303*	0.2	-0.048	-0.039
Daily Fruit/Veg				
Consumption	059	076	.096	.044
VAEQ Cardio				
Days/Week	-0.107	-0.151	-0.142	0.147

Note. Significant correlations indicated by **p<.01, * p<.05. ^adenotes point-biserial correlation coefficient. DHQ=Drinking History Questionnaire, AUDIT=Alcohol Consumption Identification Test, ADS=Alcohol Dependence Scale, TLFB=Timeline Followback, BDI=Beck Depression Inventory, BAI=Beck Anxiety Inventory, PSQI=Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, PSS= Perceived Stress Scale, VAEQ=Voluntary Aerobic Exercise Questionnaire

Table 3

Pearson correlations between LPS-stimulated cytokines and demographic, psychological and substance use variables

	Stimulated	Stimulated	Stimulated IL-	Stimulated
Variable	IL-8	IL-6	1β	HMGB1
Age	.030	.091	116	010
Gender (male =1)	004 ^a	.037 ^a	270* ^a	153
BDI Total	.325*	.382*	.314*	.100
BAI Total	.026	.080	.038	.304*
DHQ Age Drinking Onset	268	264	263	.096
TLFB Cannabis Days	.082	.059	.127	.110
TLFB Num Cigs	.078	061	.132	.021
PSQI Sleep Duration	009	083	.022	284*
PSS Total	.248	.401**	.090	.221
Daily Fruit/Veg	096	172	156	.114
VAEQ Cardio Days/Week	.092	209	.029	-030

Note. Significant correlations indicated by **p<.01, * p<.05. ^adenotes point-biserial correlation coefficient. DHQ=Drinking History Questionnaire, AUDIT=Alcohol Consumption Identification Test, ADS=Alcohol Dependence Scale, TLFB=Timeline Followback, BDI=Beck Depression Inventory, BAI=Beck Anxiety Inventory, PSQI=Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, PSS= Perceived Stress Scale, VAEQ=Voluntary Aerobic Exercise Questionnaire

Table 4

	TLR4 Avg.	Flanker Inhibitory	List Sorting
Variable	Methylation	Control	Working Memory
Age	-0.184	-0.056	0.064
Gender (male =1)	-0.158 ^a	0.049^{a}	0.098^{a}
BDI Total	0.1	-0.165	0.126
BAI Total	-0.127	-0.241	-0.086
DHQ Age Drinking			
Onset	-0.021	-0.037	-0.153
TLFB Cannabis			
Days	0.041	-0.048	0.01
TLFB Num Cigs	0.045	-0.074	-0.008
PSQI Sleep Duration	0.179	.263*	0.013
PSS Total	0.09	-0.115	-0.057
Daily Fruit/Veg			
Consumption	.093	201	.118
VAEQ Cardio			
Days/Week	0.193	-0.183	0.167

Pearson correlations between TLR4 methylation, cognitive measures and demographic, psychological and substance use variables

Note. Significant correlations indicated by **p<.01, * p<.05. ^adenotes point-biserial correlation coefficient. DHQ=Drinking History Questionnaire, AUDIT=Alcohol Consumption Identification Test, ADS=Alcohol Dependence Scale, TLFB=Timeline Followback, BDI=Beck Depression Inventory, BAI=Beck Anxiety Inventory, PSQI=Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, PSS= Perceived Stress Scale, VAEQ=Voluntary Aerobic Exercise Questionnaire

Results of One-way ANOVA Tests Comparing Heavy vs. Light Drinkers

After removing all outliers (scores greater than 3 SDs above or below the mean) on measures of inflammation (4 outliers were removed from LPS-stimulated cytokine analyses, and 4 were removed from circulating cytokine analyses), we conducted a preliminary comparison of heavy and light drinking groups on measures of alcohol use, other psychosocial variables, cognitive performance, TLR4 methylation, circulating cytokines and LPS stimulated cytokines. We used one-way ANOVAs, given that some variables are non-normally distributed and ANOVA is robust to violations of the normality assumption (Schmider, Ziegler, Danay, Beyer, & Bühner, 2010). Note that at all variables (i.e., cognitive, self-report, methylation and cytokines) passed tests of homogeneity of variance (i.e., all Levene's statistics were nonsignificant), except for TLFB drinks per drinking day, TLFB total cannabis days and TLFB number of cigarettes. For those variables, we conducted the Welch's ANOVA procedure, which is an alternative to the classic ANOVA that can be used when data violate the assumption of homogeneity of variances (Tomarken & Serlin, 1986). Significance is indicated in Table 1 and below by the Welch's p value.

As expected, significant AUDIT consumption score differences emerged for heavy drinkers (M=7.77, SD=2.2) and light drinkers (M=3.92, SD=2.1); F(1,80)=63.558, p<.001, Cohen's *d*=1.785. In addition, significant ADS total score differences emerged for heavy drinkers (M=7.8, SD=4.1) and light drinkers (M=4.77, SD=4.6); F(1,78)=9.646, p =.003, Cohen's *d*=.695, and significant TLFB drinks per drinking day differences emerged for heavy drinkers (M=4.56, SD=2.5) and light drinkers (M=2.28, SD=2.0); (Welch's F(1,77.97)=21.124, p<.001) Cohen's *d*=1.029. Also, significant TLFB number of cannabis days differences emerged for heavy drinkers (M=28.93, SD=37.7) and light drinkers (M=12.90 SD=25.9); (Welch's F(1,74.65)=5.112, p=.027, Cohen's *d*=.506). Group differences in gender emerged such that there were significantly more males in the heavy drinking group compared to the light drinking group $\chi^2(1, N=82)=8.408$, p=.004. No group differences were observed for measures of depression, anxiety, daily fruit and vegetable consumption, days per week of cardiovascular exercise, perceived stress, average nightly sleep duration or age of onset of regular drinking.

Regarding cognitive measures, no significant group differences were observed for agecorrected scores on either of the individual tests. Specifically, Flanker Inhibitory Control F(1,75)=.189, p = .665, Cohen's *d*=.1, List Sorting Working Memory F(1,74)=.783, p = .379, Cohen's *d*=.206, Circulating IL-6 F(1,63)=.009, p = .924, Cohen's *d*=.024, Circulating IL-8 F(1,62)=.466, p =.498, Cohen's *d*=.174, Circulating IL-1β F(1,58)=.034, p =.854, Cohen's *d*=.048, Circulating HMGB1 F(1,65)=.382, p =.539, Cohen's *d*=.154, LPS Stimulated IL-6 F(1,58)=.035, p =.853, Cohen's *d*=.049, LPS Stimulated IL-8 F(1,60)=.361, p =.550, Cohen's *d*=.155, LPS Stimulated IL-1β F(1,59)=.084, p =.773, Cohen's *d*=.075 and LPS Stimulated HMGB1 F(1,55)=1.868, p =.177, Cohen's *d*=.369. In terms of TLR4 methylation, no significant group differences were observed for any of the individual CpGs or the TLR4 average methylation value across the four sites, F(1,73)=.089, p =.767, Cohen's *d*=.07. We also tested for significant group differences in cytokines. No significant differences were observed in either circulating cytokine levels or in LPS-stimulated cytokines. Table 5 shows these between group differences in blood variables (TLR4 methylation, circulating cytokines and stimulated cytokines) and cognitive tests.

Table 5

	M (SD)		
Variable	Heavy	Light	
Flanker Inhibitory Control Score	95.54 (16.44)	94.00 (14.56)	
List Sorting Working Memory Score	103.49 (12.55)	100.97 (12.19)	
Circulating IL-6	.85 (.48)	.84 (.42)	
Circulating IL-8	3.38 (1.55)	3.65 (1.64)	
Circulating IL-1β	.26 (.31)	.27 (.29)	
Circulating HMGB1	63020.10 (<i>23424.98</i>)	66602.53 (21942.57)	
TLR4 Average Methylation	2.21 (.92)	2.27 (.88)	
LPS Stimulated IL-6	545.74 (604.12)	575.05 (611.65)	
LPS Stimulated IL-8	694.83 (11.24.94)	545.59 (816.25)	
LPS Stimulated IL-1B	1562.93 (1318.15)	1468.96 (1210.25)	
LPS Stimulated HMGB1	71538.24 (<i>37422.35</i>)	85557.76 (40013.26)	

Summary of Between Group Differences: Blood and Cognitive Variables

Note. SD = standard deviation

Regression Results

To increase power to detect effects, drinking was examined as a continuous measure, using a series of Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) multiple regression models. Given that study hypotheses link alcohol *consumption* (rather than alcohol problems or degree of dependence) to changes in inflammatory signaling, the TLFB drinks per drinking day variable was used rather than ADS or AUDIT, as the TLFB drinks per drinking day variable is the purest consumption measure available in the dataset. Figures 4-7 show the relationships between TLFB drinks per drinking day and each circulating cytokine, and figures 8-11 show the relationships between TLFB drinks per drinking day and each LPS stimulated cytokine.

In the present study, we examined covariates that could at least be theoretically linked to the dependent variable in each analysis, and demonstrated some association with the independent variables in the sample. In the set of models in which cytokines were the dependent variable, covariates were included if they demonstrated significant differences between heavy and light drinking groups, and have a theoretical association with inflammation. Thus, TLFB cannabis days and gender were included as covariates in all models. In all models reported below, slope values are reported as standardized coefficients. Significance was set at p < .05. Given the preliminary and exploratory nature of this work, we did not correct for multiple tests. In all models reported below, residuals were approximately normally distributed and homoscedasticity was established, as assessed by a visual inspection of a plot standardized residuals versus standardized predicted values for each model.



Figure 4. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and circulating HMGB1 (pg/mL).



Figure 5. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and circulating IL-6 (pg/mL).



Figure 6. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and circulating IL-1 β (pg/mL).



Figure 7. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and circulating IL-8 (pg/mL).



Figure 8. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and LPS stimulated IL-6 (pg/mL).



Figure 9. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and LPS stimulated IL-1 β (pg/mL).



Figure 10. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and LPS stimulated IL-8 (pg/mL).



Figure 11. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB drinks per drinking day and LPS stimulated HMGB1 (pg/mL).



Figure 12. Scatterplot showing the correlation between TLFB cannabis days and circulating IL-1 β

First, we aimed to determine whether alcohol use covarying for cannabis use and gender predicted circulating cytokines. We first regressed each cytokine separately on TLFB drinks per drinking day and the specified covariates. In the model in which IL-6 was the criterion, the predictors accounted for 10.5% of the variance in cytokines, F(3, 61)=2.392, p=.077, and inspection of individual regression slopes revealed a significant main effect of TLFB drinks per drinking day, (*b*=.353 *t*(64)=2.529 , *p*=.014).

In the model in which IL-1 β was the criterion, the predictors accounted for 23.6% of the variance in cytokines, F(3, 56)=5.782, p=.002. Inspection of individual regression slopes revealed a significant main effect of cannabis days (*b*=-.453 *t*(59)=-3.650, *p*=.001) but no main

effect of TLFB drinks per drinking day. Figure 12 shows the negative association between circulating IL-1 β and cannabis use days. In the model in which IL-8 was the criterion, the predictors explained 5.8% of the variance in cytokines, F(3, 60)=1.234, p=.305, and no main effects emerged. In addition, for the model in which circulating HMGB1 was the criterion, the predictors explained 4.9% of the variance, F(3, 63)=1.092, p=.359, and no main effects emerged. Similarly, for the model in which TLR4 average methylation was the criterion, the predictors explained 3.6% of the variance, F(3, 71)=.884, p=.454, and no significant main effects were observed.

Next, we examined whether alcohol consumption predicted LPS-stimulated cytokines, covarying for gender and cannabis days. In the model in which LPS-stimulated IL-6 was the criterion, the predictors explained 9.3% of the variance, F(3, 56)=1.924, p=.136, and inspection of individual regression slopes revealed a significant main effect of TLFB drinks per drinking day (*b*=.338 *t*(59)=2.353, *p*=.022). In the model in which LPS-stimulated IL-8 was the criterion, the assumptions of normality of residuals and homoscedasticity were violated, so the model could not be interpreted. In the model in which LPS-stimulated IL-1 β was the criterion, the predictors accounted for 12.1% of the variance, F(3, 57)=2.614, p=.060. Inspection of individual regression slopes revealed a significant main effect of gender (*b*=-.345 *t*(60)=-2.604, *p*=.012). In the model in which LPS-stimulated HMGB1 was the criterion, the predictors accounted for 4.8% of the variance, F(3, 53)=.888, p=.453. No main effects of gender, cannabis days or drinking days emerged.

We also ran two models regressing each of the two cognitive variables of interest (Flanker Inhibitory Control and List Sorting Working Memory) on TLFB drinks per drinking day and cannabis use. Neither of these models were significant. We also examined whether circulating and stimulated inflammatory cytokines, and TLR4 methylation were associated with cognitive performance on our two measures of interest, by regressing cognitive variables on each inflammatory marker, with covariates selected if they demonstrated a significant correlation with inflammatory variables and were also expected theoretically to be associated with cognitive variables (see Tables 2-4). Covariates included in each model were as follows: for the models in which circulating IL-8 was the predictor, age and PSS total were included; for circulating IL-6, only age was included; for circulating II-1 β , age and TLFB cannabis days were included; for circulating HMGB1 no covariates were included, for stimulated IL-8, BDI total was included; for stimulated IL-6, BDI total and PSS total were included; for stimulated IL-1 β , BDI total was included; for stimulated HMGB1, PSQI sleep duration and BAI total were included; and for TLR4 methylation, no covariates were included. None of the inflammatory variables in any of these models significantly predicted cognitive performance.

Finally, as an exploratory aim, we tested whether TLR4 methylation was associated with circulating cytokines. Using simple correlations, we demonstrated that TLR4 average methylation was correlated with circulating HMGB1 (r=.288, p=.021), and that this effect seems to be driven by significant correlations between HMGB1 and two individual CpGs, located at Chr9: 117704398 (r=.289, p=.021), and Chr9: 117704406 (r=.241, p=.055). The partial correlation covarying for age remained significant. No other correlations were observed between TLR4 and circulating cytokines.

Follow-up Analyses

Given that in the above regression models TLFB drinks per drinking day did not significantly predict cognitive performance, and that the proposed mediator (inflammation) was

also found not to predict cognitive performance, we decided not to test whether inflammation mediates this relationship, as originally proposed.

Tests of Moderation. Because TLFB drinks per drinking day and TLFB cannabis days both significantly predicted circulating cytokines, and because cannabis was significantly negatively associated with circulating IL-1 β whereas drinks per drinking day was positively associated with IL-6, and given that cannabis days and drinks per drinking days are significantly positively correlated with each other (r=.380, p < .001), we examined cannabis days as a potential moderator of the relationship between drinking and circulating IL-6 and IL-1β. We regressed IL-6 and IL-1ß separately on TLFB drinks per drinking day, gender, TLFB cannabis days, and TLFB drinks per drinking day by TLFB cannabis days interaction term. Note that both drinks per drinking day and cannabis days were mean centered for moderation models. In the model in which IL-6 was the criterion, predictors explained 27.3% of the variance, F(4, 60)=5.635, p=.001. Inspection of individual regression slopes indicates a significant cannabis by drinks per drinking day interaction (b=-.434 t(64)=-3.722, p<.001). To further explore the nature of this interaction, we compared cannabis non-users (n=29 subjects with cytokine data) to individuals who had used cannabis at least once over the period covered by the TLFB (n=29 subjects with cytokine data). In the non-users, the partial correlation, covarying for gender was significant (partial r=.724, p<.001), but in the users, the partial correlation covarying for gender was not significant (partial r=.138, p=.452). Figure 13 illustrates these group differences.



Figure 13. Comparison of the relationship between drinks per drinking day and circulating IL-6 (pg/mL) in subjects who had not used marijuana in the past 90 days (panel A) and individuals who had consumed marijuana in the past 90 days (panel B).

In the model in which IL-1 β was the criterion, predictors explained 26.9% of the variance F(4, 55)=5.061, p=.002. Inspection of individual regression slopes indicates no significant cannabis by drinks per drinking day interaction.

Additionally, because gender was associated with LPS-stimulated IL-1 β , we also examined whether gender moderates the effect of TLFB drinks per drinking day on stimulated IL-1 β (with TLFB cannabis days also included in the model). Gender was contrast coded such that males= 1, females = -1. In this model, the predictors explained 12.1% of the variance F(4, 56)=1.927, p=.119, and only gender (but not the interaction term) was a significant predictor (*b*=-.345 *t*(60)=-2.575, *p*=.013). Finally, given that gender was associated with stimulated IL-1 β and cannabis use was associated with circulating IL-1 β , we examined whether gender moderates the effect of cannabis use on stimulated IL-1 β , including TLFB drinking days in the model. In this model, the predictors accounted for 12.9% of the variance F(4, 56)=2.066, p=.097, and only gender (but not the interaction term) was a significant predictor (*b*=-.340 *t*(60)=-2.552, *p*=.013).

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

This study examined the relationship between alcohol use, circulating and stimulated peripheral inflammatory markers and TLR4 methylation, and cognitive performance in a sample of heavy and light drinkers. Subjects completed all study procedures during a single session involving psychological questionnaire measures, a cognitive battery and a blood draw. Outcomes were compared based on drinking group, as well as using alcohol consumption as a continuous predictor.

Overview of Main Outcomes

Contrary to prior human research suggesting that AUDs are associated with long-term, systemic inflammation indicated by increased circulating cytokines in blood (Achur, Freeman, & Vrana, 2010; Leclercq et al., 2012; Leclercq et al., 2014a), we did not demonstrate any significant differences between the heavy and light drinking groups in terms of circulating or stimulated cytokines. We also failed to observe group differences on cognitive performance or TLR4 methylation. Effect sizes across outcomes may be smaller than anticipated, and it is likely that the two groups were not dissimilar enough on alcohol exposure to detect any differences. It is possible that comparing non-drinkers to alcohol-dependent individuals, treatment seeking individuals with alcohol dependence, or individuals who report a history of chronic alcohol dependence would reveal significant differences in inflammatory mediators or TLR4 methylation. Consistent with that notion, data previously published on this question were often collected from older, more severely dependent patients with greater lifetime alcohol exposure. For example, in our previous work, we demonstrated differences between alcohol dependent

individuals (mean age=48 years) and age-matched controls on TLR4 methylation (Hagerty et al., 2016). Also, a recent study found increased circulating levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IL-1 β in alcohol dependent inpatients (mean age=48 years) compared to healthy controls (Leclercq et al., 2014a), suggesting that significant differences may have emerged in the present study if older and/or more severe drinkers had been recruited, perhaps from a medical or inpatient treatment setting.

Regarding cognitive measures, in addition to finding no differences between drinking groups, we failed to demonstrate any associations between alcohol consumption (measured continuously) and cognitive variables, methylation and cognitive variables, or cytokines and cognitive variables. We also examined correlations between cognitive variables and self-report measures (see Table 4). Number of hours of sleep per night emerged as the strongest predictor of performance on the cognitive batteries, which is consistent with the well-established relationship between sleep and cognitive performance (Alhola & Polo-Kantola, 2007). This result underscores the importance of including sleep variables as covariates in any analyses in which cognitive performance is an outcome.

One potential explanation for our lack of findings demonstrating a relationship between alcohol and cognitive performance may be that the measures administered are not sensitive enough to detect subtle differences in cognitive abilities that could be observed in this relatively young, healthy, heavy-drinking population. Given that the neural damage and subsequent cognitive impairments associated with alcohol use are cumulative and increase with increased years of drinking and increased age (Pfefferbaum et al., 1992; Woods et al., 2016), our heavy drinkers, who had an average age of 30.28 years, may have been too young and had not yet experienced sufficient alcohol exposure to demonstrate measurable cognitive deficits. In addition to recruiting older drinkers with a longer alcohol use history for future studies, this problem
could also be addressed by administering cognitive batteries that measure more complex cognitive processes and may be more sensitive to alcohol-related impairment, such as the Iowa Gambling Task, which measures risky-decision making (Kim, Sohn, & Jeong, 2011), the Trail-Making test, which involves multiple brain systems and measures attention and set switching (Day, Celio, Lisman, Johansen, & Spear, 2013), or the Stop Signal Alcohol Cue Task, which examines the ability to inhibit a pre-potent response in the context of craving-inducing alcohol cues (Karoly, Weiland, Sabbineni, & Hutchison, 2014).

Although we failed to demonstrate significant group differences in circulating or stimulated cytokines, when alcohol consumption was considered continuously, drinks per drinking day was positively associated with circulating IL-6. This is consistent with prior work demonstrating that circulating IL-6 is correlated with AUD severity (Leclercq et al., 2014a). We explored cannabis use as a moderator, given that recent studies have suggested that cannabinoids may have profound effects on immune system function and inflammation, both peripherally and centrally (for review, see Klein, 2005). In the moderation model, significant main effects of drinking and a significant interaction between cannabis use and drinks per drinking day emerged. The direction of this interaction is such that lower cannabis use is associated with a stronger relationship between alcohol consumption and circulating IL-6. Specifically, among individuals who did not consume cannabis during the 90-days immediately prior to the study, there was a strong positive relationship between alcohol consumption and IL-6, but in those who did consume cannabis, there was no relationship. These results are consistent with findings from human studies demonstrating that cannabis use is associated with reductions in IL-6 (Keen et al., 2014).

Of note, drinks per drinking day was also found to be a significant predictor of LPSstimulated IL-6. It has been suggested that heavy drinking may increase sensitivity of cells to LPS-stimulation among individuals with alcoholic liver disease (Schäfer et al., 1995) and following an acute binge alcohol administration (Bala et al., 2014). Our findings are consistent with this prior work. In addition, we observed that stimulated IL-6 was correlated with stress and depression (see Table 2). These results are consistent with prior research demonstrating the role of stress and mood symptoms in influencing LPS-stimulated cytokine release. For example, in rats, a prior stressor was shown to sensitize LPS-induced production of IL-6 and IL-1 β (Johnson, O'Connor, Daek, Stark, Watkins & Maier, 2002). In humans, chronic stress has also demonstrated an association with greater LPS-stimulated cytokine production (Davis, Zautra, Younger, Motivala, Attrep & Irwin, 2008). Depression has also been associated with immune dysfunction including altered responses to LPS. For example, severity of mood disturbance has been positively correlated with LPS-induced cytokine production in humans (Yirmiya, 2000), and LPS has been shown to increase depression-like behavior in mice (Frenois et al.,2007).

Notably, cannabis use was not a significant predictor of any of the LPS-stimulated cytokines, which suggests that cannabis may serve to decrease basal levels of inflammation in humans, but does not appear to play a major role in impacting acute responses to an immune challenge. In neonatal rat cortical microglial cells, however, tetrahydrocannabinol (THC; one of the primary compounds in recreational and medical cannabis) decreased LPS-induced mRNAs for various cytokines including IL-6 and IL-1β, with IL-6 demonstrating particular sensitivity to THC (Puffenbarger, Boothe, & Cabral, 2000). THC was also found to decrease LPS-induced IL-6 release from mouse macrophages in cell culture (Chang, Lee, & Lin, 2001).

For circulating IL-1 β , we found significant effects of cannabis use but not alcohol use. Interestingly, in the moderation model, the significant main effect of cannabis use remained, but the alcohol by cannabis interaction was not significant. This suggests that the impact of cannabis use on IL-1 β may be more important than the impact of alcohol consumption. Similar to IL-6, we found that cannabis use was negatively associated with circulating levels of IL-1 β , which is also consistent with the literature (Klein, 2005). However, we found no relationship between alcohol or cannabis use and LPS-stimulated IL-1 β , which is counter to findings from a rodent study showing that cannabinoids prevent LPS-induced production of IL-1 β in brain tissue (Chung, Bok, Chung, Baik, & Jin, 2012) and that THC decreases LPS-induced mRNA for IL-1 β (Puffenbarger et al., 2000). Also, a cannabinoid receptor agonist was found to attenuate LPSinduced increases in IL-1 β in rat brain and plasma (Roche, Diamond, Kelly, & Finn, 2006). Our unexpected findings suggest that although cannabis has been shown to impact LPS-stimulated cytokines in animals, the relationship between cannabis and LPS-stimulated inflammatory markers may be more complicated in human peripheral tissue.

Notably, we did observe a main effect of both gender and depression predicting LPSstimulated IL-1 β , which is consistent with existing evidence. We found that gender did not moderate the relationship between alcohol and stimulated IL-1 β or cannabis and stimulated IL-1 β , indicating that gender does not influence the relationship between substance use and stimulated IL-1 β , but should be included as a covariate in subsequent studies of stimulated IL-1 β production. Previously, gender differences have been observed in LPS-induced production of cytokines including IL-1 β , such that males showed a greater response than females (Aulock et al., 2006). However, in the present study, females demonstrated greater LPS-induced IL-1 β than men. Given that estrogen has been found to modulate LPS-induced cytokine secretion (Asai et al., 2001), and that we did not control for day of last menstrual cycle among our female participants, our unexpected findings may be due to differences in estrogen levels. Alternatively, this pattern of results may be related to our relatively low power or the fact that significant differences in gender composition were present between heavy and light drinking groups. In summary, given the link between estrogen and inflammatory processes, future studies should not only include gender as a covariate, but should also control for the day of last menstrual cycle in female subjects.

Notably, we also observed a correlation between LPS stimulated IL-1β and BDI score (Table 3). This finding is consistent with increasing research supporting the critical role of inflammation and inflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of depression (Miller, Maletic, & Raison, 2009; Raison, Capuron, & Miller, 2006). Administration of a pro-inflammatory stimulus can result in depression-like behavioral syndromes (e.g. increases in depressed mood, anxiety, fatigue, mental confusion, and psychomotor slowing (Brydon, Harrison, Walker, Steptoe, & Critchley, 2008), and depression severity has been positively correlated with LPSinduced cytokine production in humans (Yirmiya, 2000). The present results combined with the existing literature on the relationship between depression and inflammation support the inclusion of mood variables as covariates in studies examining inflammatory responses to an immune challenge.

Counter to our hypotheses, circulating IL-8 was not associated with alcohol consumption or cannabis use in the present study. Increased plasma IL-8 has been previously shown in alcohol dependent patients (Hill, Marsano, & McClain, 1993), however the individuals in this study were suffering from alcoholic hepatitis, or liver inflammation, which occurs in some patients as a result of chronic heavy drinking (Lucey, Mathurin, & Morgan, 2009). Another study demonstrated increased IL-8 among alcohol dependent inpatients compared to healthy controls (Leclercq et al., 2014a). The subjects in the present study did not have significant chronicity of alcohol use, and none reported alcohol-related liver problems or prior inpatient hospitalization, which may explain our lack of findings for IL-8. Further, although there is some evidence for an indirect link between cannabinoid signaling and IL-8 (Mormina, Thakur, Molleman, Whelan, & Baydoun, 2006), the nature of this potential relationship is not well understood. These results suggest that compared to other cytokines, IL-8 may not play a primary role in inflammatory signaling in substance use disorders.

Unexpectedly, we also failed to observe any significant relationships between circulating or stimulated HMGB1 and alcohol use. These results indicate that although HMGB1 is implicated in alcohol-related neuroimmune signaling in humans and animal models (Crews et al., 2013; Zou & Crews, 2014), and serum HMGB1 is induced in alcoholic liver injury (Ge et al., 2014), neither circulating nor stimulated HMGB1 is significantly altered in relatively young, healthy, heavy drinkers. Indeed, even among individuals with alcoholic liver injury, HMGB1 is elevated, but the cytokine response to HMGB1 appears unaltered, suggesting that HMGB1 is not a primary contributor to peripheral inflammation, even in the context of alcoholic liver disease (Laursen et al., 2016). In the brain, however, HMGB1 has been implicated in alcohol withdrawal (Whitman, Knap, Werner, Crews & Breese, 2013) and was shown to mediate alcohol-related neuroimmune signaling (Crews et al., 2013; Zou & Crews, 2014). Thus, although prior evidence suggests that HMGB1 is involved in the pathophysiology of alcohol dependence, our data indicate that it may play a more important role in the brain rather than the periphery.

Additionally, alcohol consumption measured continuously did not significantly predict TLR4 methylation in the present sample. These results were unexpected, given our prior findings that TLR4 was hypermethylated in alcohol dependent subjects compared to controls (Hagerty et al., 2016). However, our previous study examined brain tissue samples. Thus, it is possible that the relationship between alcohol use and peripheral TLR4 methylation is less straightforward. In addition, the sample in our previous work was older and more severely alcohol dependent. It is possible that peripheral TLR4 would show significant differences between non-drinkers and older, chronically alcohol dependent individuals. Future research should thus examine blood levels of TLR4 methylation among an older, more severe drinking population.

Finally, as an exploratory aim, we examined whether TLR4 methylation was associated with circulating or stimulated cytokines. The only significant relationships that emerged were between two TLR4 CpGs (located at Chr9: 117704398 and Chr9: 117704406) and circulating HMGB1. Given that TLR4 promoter methylation is associated with TLR4 silencing in several cell types (Takahashi, Sugi, Hosono, & Kaminogawa, 2009; Zampetaki et al., 2006), TLR4 methylation is likely suggestive of decreased TLR4 expression, which could imply decreased activity of the TLR4-mediated inflammatory signaling cascade. HMGB1 contributes to the regulation of innate immune gene expression through activating TLR4 (Crews et al., 2013). Thus, one interpretation of our exploratory finding is that HMGB1 may increase to compensate for decreased TLR4 expression resulting from TLR4 methylation. However, given that these results are extremely preliminary, and further, that the majority of studies examining alcoholinduced HMGB1/TLR4 inflammatory signaling have been conducted in rodent brain tissue (e.g., Crews, Qin, Sheedy, Vetreno, & Zou, 2013; Zou & Crews, 2014), the possible relationship between TLR4 methylation and HMGB1, particularly in human peripheral tissue, remains unclear.

Overall, the most notable result from the present study is the moderation by cannabis consumption of the relationship between alcohol consumption and circulating IL-6. This finding warrants a more in-depth discussion of the mechanism(s) by which cannabinoids (which are the compounds isolated from cannabis, of which the most well-studied are tetrahydrocannabinol [THC], cannabidiol [CBD] and cannabinol [CBN]) may exert anti-inflammatory properties in the brain and periphery, particularly in the context of heavy alcohol use. In recent years, CBD has shown promise as an anti-inflammatory agent. Briefly, CBD has demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects peripherally (Burstein & Zurier, 2009), as well as in the brain. CBD is a lipophilic molecule that can cross the blood-brain barrier (Devinsky et al., 2014), and microglia have been shown to express cannabinoid receptors (Cabral & Marciano-Cabral, 2005), suggesting that cannabinoids, including CBD, can directly impact neuroinflammation. Notably, CBD and THC have been shown to regulate microglial activity and cytokine production (including IL-6 and IL-1β) in response to inflammatory signals, likely via actions on the TLR4-mediated NFkB inflammatory signaling pathway (Levy, Kozela, Rimmerman, & Pietr). In one study, a single dose of CBD was shown to protect against neuroinflammation following an LPS stimulation in mice (Ruiz-Valdepeñas et al., 2011). CBD has also been shown to reduce neuroinflammation in the context of several neurodegenerative disorders and other inflammatory conditions. CBD reduced microglial activation in a rat model of Alzheimer's disease (Martín-Moreno et al., 2011), and specifically suppresses IL-1ß (Esposito et al., 2007). CBD also attenuates inflammation in a viral model of multiple sclerosis (Mecha et al., 2013) and reduces the immune response in a rat model of pneumococcal meningitis (Barichello et al., 2012). With respect to alcohol use disorders, our data suggest that CBD may similarly serve to decrease inflammation in the brain

and periphery. To date, few empirical studies have examined the influence of cannabis and alcohol together on inflammatory signaling.

Limitations and Future Directions

The primary statistical limitation in the present study was power. Given the loss of subjects due to problems that arose during the blood protocols and Qualtrics data collection, we were underpowered for both group comparisons and regression analyses. For this reason, significant findings should be interpreted with caution until replicated with adequately powered samples. This caution is particularly important regarding interpretation of the cannabis moderation effect, given the large sample size needed to detect interaction effects (McClelland & Judd, 1993). In addition, our lack of significant group differences should also be interpreted with caution until a replication can be conducted. Thus, an important next step will be to collect data on 15-20 additional participants to increase power to detect moderate effects in both group comparisons and regression analyses.

Regarding the circulating cytokine findings, there are several limitations to note. Importantly, although alcohol likely does produce peripheral inflammation, given that alcohol dependence is associated with elevated plasma levels of LPS and cytokines in humans (e.g., Achur et al., 2010; Leclercq et al., 2012; Leclercq et al., 2014a), it is possible that alcohol's effect on inflammatory markers in the periphery does not play a primary role in inducing its neuroinflammatory effects. Briefly, peripheral LPS can lead to neuroinflammation in the brain via inducing IL-1 β (Ren & Torres, 2009), which can then cross the blood brain barrier through entering at circumventricular organs (e.g., area postrema, vascular organ of the lamina terminalis or subfornical organ), active transport, inducing PG production in endothelial cells of the cerebral vasculature that then enters the brain parenchyma, and by activating vagal fibers (Engblom et al., 2002; Maier, Goehler, Fleshner, & Watkins, 1998; Quan & Banks, 2007). However, peripheral inflammation has been found to induce neuroinflammation when there is a very large increase in plasma Il-1 β , such as in the case of an acute endotoxin administration (Qin et al., 2008), but we did not observe such elevated circulating 1L-1 β levels in the subjects in the present study. Thus, it is unlikely that there was significant inflammatory signaling between the periphery and brain in these subjects.

Perhaps more importantly, alcohol itself crosses the blood-brain barrier and directly activates TLR4 (Alfonso-Loeches, Pascual-Lucas, Blanco, Sanchez-Vera, & Guerri, 2010; Lewis et al., 2013), thereby promoting inflammatory signaling in the brain. In addition, alcohol promotes a neuronal GABA/glutamate imbalance, which is associated with excitotoxicity and cell-death, which induces local inflammation in the brain (Mon, Durazzo, & Meyerhoff, 2012). The presence of ethanol in the brain also induces oxidative stress and produces acetylaldehyde. which may lead to cellular damage and consequent neuroinflammation (Almansa et al., 2009; Sun & Sun, 2001). Taken together, the evidence suggests that these direct effects of alcohol on the brain likely dominate the peripheral inflammatory effects that occur as the result of alcohol use, and that peripheral inflammation may not be a major source of neuroinflammation in AUDs. Relatedly, our lack of correlation between peripheral inflammatory markers and cognitive performance may be due, in part, to the fact that there is not a strong correlation between peripheral and neural inflammation in the alcohol users in the present sample, owing to either their relatively low level of chronicity and symptom severity, or because neural and peripheral inflammation are truly not significantly associated in alcohol use disorders.

However, some recent work has suggested that peripheral inflammation may play a role in the development and maintenance of alcohol use disorders, specifically through alcoholinduced gut-permeability and intenstinal dysbiosis, which refers to the development pathogenic bacteria in the gut, and has been shown to not only exacerbate depression, anxiety and craving, but possibly contribute to the symptoms of alcohol addiction through interacting with the stress system, disrupting normal sleep processes and interfering with social interaction (de Timary, Stärkel, Delzenne, & Leclercq, 2017). Not surprisingly, given that the gut is a major source of immune factors, considerable human research has already demonstrated the critical role of gut microbiota in influencing psychiatric disorders and promoting aberrant behavior (Dinan, Stilling, Stanton, & Cryan, 2015; Foster & Neufeld, 2013). Further, alcohol dependent subjects with dysbiosis have demonstrated greater severity of AUD symptoms compared to those without dysbiosis (Leclercq et al., 2014b). Thus, an important next step is to further examine the possible role of gut permeability and intestinal dysbiosis in alcohol-induced inflammation through incorporating gut microbiome sample collection into studies of alcohol use and inflammation.

Another limitation of the present study is related to the fact that although we demonstrated no differences in monocytes between the heavy and light drinking groups, we did not normalize cytokine data for analysis to account for number of monocytes. Normalization of LPS-stimulated cytokine measurement to individual monocyte counts has been found to significantly alter results (Aulock et al., 2006). Thus, monocytes should be considered when measuring cytokine levels. It is also worth noting that in the present study, we used the Millipore Scepter 2.0 for cell counting, which differentiates cells based on their size (diameter). Although cell counting using this method is comparable with cell counts obtained from Flow Cytometry, the Scepter method has less sensitivity and precision in terms of population cell count (Cappione, Crosslet, Thirumalapura & Hoover, 2011). Thus, it would be ideal to use Flow Cytometry to generate cell counts and then normalize cytokine data based on these counts. Given that we have cryopreserved PBMCs from all subjects, a potential next step may be to perform Flow Cytometry analyses on these data for normalization in subsequent analyses.

Regarding TLR4 methylation, although methylation sites were selected based on proximity to the transcription start site and location within a TLR4 regulatory region, we measured methylation in a small region of the gene, and it is possible that methylation within another region would confer stronger effect sizes. In addition, although we assume that greater methylation decreases TLR4 expression, and that this decrease in expression blunts inflammatory signaling, further studies are needed to directly measure the relationship between TLR4 methylation and expression in human brain and peripheral tissue. Future work is also needed to establish concordance between TLR4 methylation in buccal and brain tissue. However, it is promising that emerging research has demonstrated an association between buccal and brain tissue methylation (Smith et al., 2015), and we previously found that methylation of CpGs (including CpGs in TLR4) differed significantly between AUD and control subjects and was consistent across brain and buccal cells (Hagerty et. al, 2016). Finally, bisulfite sequencing methods including the pyrosequencing technique we employed in the present study cannot differentiate between methylcytosine variants (e.g., 5-hydroxylmethylcytosine) (Huang et al., 2010), which may have distinct regulatory effects (e.g., Wen et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2011). This fact further contributes to the uncertainty of the relationship between TLR4 methylation and expression, and should be addressed in future work.

Summary and Conclusions

Contrary to initial hypotheses, the present study did not demonstrate statistically significant differences between heavy and light drinkers on cognitive measures, inflammatory markers or TLR4 methylation. Given the prior literature supporting these relationships, these results may be attributable to the lack of AUD severity/chronicity and relatively young age of the heavy drinking sample. Alternatively, the fact that our data indicated no relationships between drinking and peripheral IL-8, IL-1 β , HMGB1 or TLR4 methylation could be interpreted as preliminary support for the lack of convergence between peripheral inflammatory signaling and neuroinflammation in the context of alcohol use disorders. Regardless of interpretation, the present results indicate the need for further research to better understand the role of inflammatory signaling in the brain and periphery in alcohol use disorders.

Notably, when alcohol consumption was examined as a continuous predictor, we did observe significant associations between alcohol consumption and both circulating and stimulated IL-6, as well as moderation by cannabis use of the relationship between alcohol and circulating IL-6. These findings provide initial support for our original hypotheses, and reinforce the need for future research in this area. Ultimately, convergence between human and animal studies of alcohol consumption and inflammatory signaling across various tissue types would provide the most compelling evidence for better understanding the relationship between inflammation, neurocognition and alcohol use, including explicating the possible role of peripheral immune signaling.

Taking into account the limitations of the present study, particularly power, our significant results should be interpreted with caution. However, our lack of group differences should also be interpreted cautiously, given the potentially small effect sizes across these outcomes. To summarize, in light of previously demonstrated associations between alcohol, cannabis and inflammation, both the expected and unexpected findings from the present study should be tested for replication in a larger sample comprised of older, more severely alcohol-dependent individuals. The present results can serve to inform the selection of inflammatory

markers to test in future analyses (e.g., peripheral IL-6 appears to be associated with alcohol consumption, while IL-8 may be less critical). Overall, despite the preliminary nature of these results and the need for replication, our findings provide promising initial data to inform future investigations, with the goal of ultimately leveraging knowledge of the role of inflammatory signaling in alcohol use disorders to develop more effective treatments focused on novel targets within the immune system.

References

- Achur, R. N., Freeman, W. M., & Vrana, K. E. (2010). Circulating cytokines as biomarkers of alcohol abuse and alcoholism. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 5(1), 83-91.
- Alfonso-Loeches, S., & Guerri, C. (2011). Molecular and behavioral aspects of the actions of alcohol on the adult and developing brain. *Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences, 48*(1), 19-47.
- Alfonso-Loeches, S., Pascual-Lucas, M., Blanco, A. M., Sanchez-Vera, I., & Guerri, C. (2010). Pivotal role of TLR4 receptors in alcohol-induced neuroinflammation and brain damage. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(24), 8285-8295.
- Alhola, P., & Polo-Kantola, P. (2007). Sleep deprivation: Impact on cognitive performance. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment*, *3*(5), 553.
- Almansa, I., Fernandez, A., Garcia-Ruiz, C., Muriach, M., Barcia, J., Miranda, M., . . . Romero, F. (2009). Brain mitochondrial alterations after chronic alcohol consumption. *Journal of physiology and biochemistry*, 65(3), 305-312.
- Ambrose, M. L., Bowden, S. C., & Whelan, G. (2001). Working memory impairments in alcohol-dependent participants without clinical amnesia. *Alcoholism: clinical and experimental research*, 25(2), 185-191.
- Anton, R. F., O'Malley, S. S., Ciraulo, D. A., Cisler, R. A., Couper, D., Donovan, D. M., . . . Zweben, A. (2006). Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama, 295*(17), 2003-2017. doi:10.1001/jama.295.17.2003
- Asai, K., Hiki, N., Mimura, Y., Ogawa, T., Unou, K., & Kaminishi, M. (2001). Gender differences in cytokine secretion by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: role of estrogen in modulating LPS-induced cytokine secretion in an ex vivo septic model. *Shock*, 16(5), 340-343.
- Aulock, S. v., Deininger, S., Draing, C., Gueinzius, K., Dehus, O., & Hermann, C. (2006). Gender difference in cytokine secretion on immune stimulation with LPS and LTA. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research*, 26(12), 887-892.
- Bajaj, J. S., Ridlon, J. M., Hylemon, P. B., Thacker, L. R., Heuman, D. M., Smith, S., ... Gillevet, P. M. (2012). Linkage of gut microbiome with cognition in hepatic encephalopathy. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 302(1), G168-G175.

- Bala, S., Marcos, M., Gattu, A., Catalano, D., & Szabo, G. (2014). Acute binge drinking increases serum endotoxin and bacterial DNA levels in healthy individuals. *PloS one*, 9(5), e96864.
- Baler, R. D., & Volkow, N. D. (2006). Drug addiction: the neurobiology of disrupted selfcontrol. *Trends Mol Med*, 12(12), 559-566. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2006.10.005
- Barichello, T., Ceretta, R. A., Generoso, J. S., Moreira, A. P., Simões, L. R., Comim, C. M., . . . Crippa, J. A. (2012). Cannabidiol reduces host immune response and prevents cognitive impairments in Wistar rats submitted to pneumococcal meningitis. *European journal of pharmacology*, 697(1), 158-164.
- Barrientos, R. M., Frank, M. G., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2010). Memory impairments in healthy aging: Role of aging-induced microglial sensitization. *Aging and disease*, 1(3), 212.
- Bartholow, B. D., Henry, E. A., Lust, S. A., Saults, J. S., & Wood, P. K. (2012). Alcohol effects on performance monitoring and adjustment: affect modulation and impairment of evaluative cognitive control. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 121(1), 173.
- Bartzokis, G. (2004). Quadratic trajectories of brain myelin content: unifying construct for neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 25(1), 49-62.
- Bechara, A. (2005). Decision making, impulse control and loss of willpower to resist drugs: a neurocognitive perspective. *Nat Neurosci*, 8(11), 1458-1463. doi:10.1038/nn1584
- Bechara, A., & Van Der Linden, M. (2005). Decision-making and impulse control after frontal lobe injuries. *Current opinion in neurology*, *18*(6), 734-739.
- Beck, A., Steer, R., & Brown, G. (1996). Manual for the BDI-II. In: San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Beck, A. T., & Steer, R. A. (1991). Relationship between the Beck anxiety inventory and the Hamilton anxiety rating scale with anxious outpatients. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 5(3), 213-223.
- Boche, D., Perry, V., & Nicoll, J. (2013). Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, 39(1), 3-18.
- Bode, C., Kugler, V., & Bode, J. C. (1987). Endotoxemia in patients with alcoholic and nonalcoholic cirrhosis and in subjects with no evidence of chronic liver disease following acute alcohol excess. *Journal of hepatology*, *4*(1), 8-14.
- Boettiger, C. A., Kelley, E. A., Mitchell, J. M., D'Esposito, M., & Fields, H. L. (2009). Now or Later? An fMRI study of the effects of endogenous opioid blockade on a decision-

making network. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, *93*(3), 291-299. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2009.02.008

- Bouchery, E. E., Harwood, H. J., Sacks, J. J., Simon, C. J., & Brewer, R. D. (2011). Economic costs of excessive alcohol consumption in the US, 2006. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 41(5), 516-524.
- Brakensiek, K., Wingen, L. U., Länger, F., Kreipe, H., & Lehmann, U. (2007). Quantitative high-resolution CpG island mapping with pyrosequencing[™] reveals disease-specific methylation patterns of the CDKN2B gene in myelodysplastic Syndrome and myeloid leukemia. *Clinical chemistry*, *53*(1), 17-23.
- Brandt, J., Butters, N., Ryan, C., & Bayog, R. (1983). Cognitive loss and recovery in long-term alcohol abusers. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 40(4), 435-442.
- Bryan, A. D., Magnan, R. E., Hooper, A. E. C., Harlaar, N., & Hutchison, K. E. (2013). Physical activity and differential methylation of breast cancer genes assayed from saliva: a preliminary investigation. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *45*(1), 89-98.
- Brydon, L., Harrison, N. A., Walker, C., Steptoe, A., & Critchley, H. D. (2008). Peripheral inflammation is associated with altered substantia nigra activity and psychomotor slowing in humans. *Biological psychiatry*, 63(11), 1022-1029.
- Burstein, S. H., & Zurier, R. B. (2009). Cannabinoids, endocannabinoids, and related analogs in inflammation. *The AAPS journal*, 11(1), 109.
- Butterworth, R. F. (1995). The role of liver disease in alcohol-induced cognitive defects. *Alcohol Health and Research World, 19*, 122-129.
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry research*, 28(2), 193-213.
- Cabral, G. A., & Marciano-Cabral, F. (2005). Cannabinoid receptors in microglia of the central nervous system: immune functional relevance. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *78*(6), 1192-1197.
- Candon, P. M., Ward, J. H., & Pandina, R. J. (2014). The Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs and the Rutgers Center of Alcohol Studies: A History of the Evolution of Alcohol Research. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*(17), 8.
- Cappione, A., Crossley, E., Thirumalapura, N., & Hoover, D (2011). Immuno-monitoring using the Scepter[™] 2.0 Cell Counter and Software Pro.
- Chang, G., Zhuang, S., Seyfert, H. M., Zhang, K., Xu, T., Jin, D., . . . Shen, X. (2015). Hepatic TLR4 signaling is activated by LPS from digestive tract during SARA, and epigenetic

mechanisms contribute to enforced TLR4 expression. *Oncotarget, 6*(36), 38578-38590. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.6161

- Chang, Y. H., Lee, S. T., & Lin, W. W. (2001). Effects of cannabinoids on LPS-stimulated inflammatory mediator release from macrophages: Involvement of eicosanoids. *Journal* of cellular biochemistry, 81(4), 715-723.
- Chung, E. S., Bok, E., Chung, Y. C., Baik, H. H., & Jin, B. K. (2012). Cannabinoids prevent lipopolysaccharide-induced neurodegeneration in the rat substantia nigra in vivo through inhibition of microglial activation and NADPH oxidase. *Brain research*, *1451*, 110-116.
- Chung, H. Y., Cesari, M., Anton, S., Marzetti, E., Giovannini, S., Seo, A. Y., . . . Leeuwenburgh, C. (2009). Molecular inflammation: underpinnings of aging and age-related diseases. *Ageing research reviews*, 8(1), 18-30.
- Claus, E. D., Kiehl, K. A., & Hutchison, K. E. (2011). Neural and behavioral mechanisms of impulsive choice in alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 35(7), 1209-1219. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01455.x
- Cohen, J. (2013). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences: Academic press.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 385-396.
- Coller, J. K., & Hutchinson, M. R. (2012). Implications of central immune signaling caused by drugs of abuse: mechanisms, mediators and new therapeutic approaches for prediction and treatment of drug dependence. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 134(2), 219-245.
- Crews, F., Zou, J., & Qin, L. (2011). Induction of innate immune genes in brain create the neurobiology of addiction. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 25*, S4-S12.
- Crews, F. T., & Boettiger, C. A. (2009). Impulsivity, frontal lobes and risk for addiction. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *93*(3), 237-247.
- Crews, F. T., & Nixon, K. (2009). Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism. *Alcohol and alcoholism*, 44(2), 115-127.
- Crews, F. T., Qin, L., Sheedy, D., Vetreno, R. P., & Zou, J. (2013). High mobility group box 1/Toll-like receptor danger signaling increases brain neuroimmune activation in alcohol dependence. *Biol Psychiatry*, 73(7), 602-612. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.09.030
- Curran, H. V., Freeman, T. P., Mokrysz, C., Lewis, D. A., Morgan, C. J., & Parsons, L. H. (2016). Keep off the grass? Cannabis, cognition and addiction. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 17(5), 293-306.

- Curtis, B. J., Zahs, A., & Kovacs, E. J. (2013). Epigenetic targets for reversing immune defects caused by alcohol exposure. *Alcohol research: current reviews*, *35*(1), 97.
- Day, A. M., Celio, M. A., Lisman, S. A., Johansen, G. E., & Spear, L. P. (2013). Acute and chronic effects of alcohol on trail making test performance among underage drinkers in a field setting. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 74(4), 635-641.
- Davis, M. C., Zautra, A. J., Younger, J., Motivala, S. J., Attrep, J., & Irwin, M. R. (2008). Chronic stress and regulation of cellular markers of inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis: implications for fatigue. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 22(1), 24-32.
- de Timary, P., Stärkel, P., Delzenne, N. M., & Leclercq, S. (2017). A role for the peripheral immune system in the development of alcohol use disorders? *Neuropharmacology*.
- Devinsky, O., Cilio, M. R., Cross, H., Fernandez-Ruiz, J., French, J., Hill, C., . . . Notcutt, W. G. (2014). Cannabidiol: pharmacology and potential therapeutic role in epilepsy and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *Epilepsia*, 55(6), 791-802.
- Dinan, T. G., Stilling, R. M., Stanton, C., & Cryan, J. F. (2015). Collective unconscious: how gut microbes shape human behavior. *Journal of psychiatric research, 63*, 1-9.
- Dinarello, C. A. (2011). A clinical perspective of IL-1β as the gatekeeper of inflammation. *European journal of immunology*, *41*(5), 1203-1217.
- El Gazzar, M., & McCall, C. E. (2010). MicroRNAs distinguish translational from transcriptional silencing during endotoxin tolerance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(27), 20940-20951.
- Engblom, D., Ek, M., Saha, S., Ericsson-Dahlstrand, A., Jakobsson, P.-J., & Blomqvist, A. (2002). Prostaglandins as inflammatory messengers across the blood-brain barrier. *Journal of molecular medicine*, 80(1), 5-15.
- England, R., & Pettersson, M. (2005). Pyro Q-CpG[™]: quantitative analysis of methylation in multiple CpG sites by Pyrosequencing[®]. *Nature Methods* | *Application Notes*.
- Esposito, G., Scuderi, C., Savani, C., Steardo, L., Filippis, D., Cottone, P., ... Cuomo, V. (2007). Cannabidiol in vivo blunts β-amyloid induced neuroinflammation by suppressing IL-1β and iNOS expression. *British journal of pharmacology*, *151*(8), 1272-1279.
- Fernandez-Lizarbe, S., Pascual, M., & Guerri, C. (2009). Critical role of TLR4 response in the activation of microglia induced by ethanol. *J Immunol*, 183(7), 4733-4744. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803590
- Foster, J. A., & Neufeld, K.-A. M. (2013). Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends in neurosciences*, *36*(5), 305-312.

- Foster, S. L., Hargreaves, D. C., & Medzhitov, R. (2007). Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. *Nature*, 447(7147), 972-978.
- Frenois, F., Moreau, M., O'Connor, J., Lawson, M., Micon, C., Lestage, J., ... & Castanon, N. (2007). Lipopolysaccharide induces delayed FosB/DeltaFosB immunostaining within the mouse extended amygdala, hippocampus and hypothalamus, that parallel the expression of depressive-like behavior. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(5), 516-531.
- Fujimoto, M., Uemura, M., Nakatani, Y., Tsujita, S., Hoppo, K., Tamagawa, T., ... & Kojima, H. (2000). Plasma endotoxin and serum cytokine levels in patients with alcoholic hepatitis: relation to severity of liver disturbance. *Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research*, 24(4 Suppl), 48S-54S.
- Gallucci, S., & Matzinger, P. (2001). Danger signals: SOS to the immune system. *Current* opinion in immunology, 13(1), 114-119.
- Ge, X., Antoine, D. J., Lu, Y., Arriazu, E., Leung, T.-M., Klepper, A. L., . . . Nieto, N. (2014). High mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) participates in the pathogenesis of alcoholic liver disease (ALD). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(33), 22672-22691.
- Goldberg, A. D., Allis, C. D., & Bernstein, E. (2007). Epigenetics: a landscape takes shape. *Cell*, 128(4), 635-638.
- Goldstein, R. Z., & Volkow, N. D. (2011). Dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex in addiction: neuroimaging findings and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 12*(11), 652-669. doi:10.1038/nrn3119
- Guerri, C., & Pascual, M. (2013). Role of Toll-Like Receptor 4 in Alcohol-Induced Neuroinflammation and Behavioral Dysfunctions. In *Neural-Immune Interactions in Brain Function and Alcohol Related Disorders* (pp. 279-306): Springer.
- Haber, S. N., & Behrens, T. E. (2014). The neural network underlying incentive-based learning: implications for interpreting circuit disruptions in psychiatric disorders. *Neuron*, *83*(5), 1019-1039.
- Hagerty, S. L., Bidwell, L. C., Harlaar, N., & Hutchison, K. E. (2016). An Exploratory Association Study of Alcohol Use Disorder and DNA Methylation. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 40(8), 1633-1640. doi:10.1111/acer.13138
- Hardy, T. M., & Tollefsbol, T. O. (2011). Epigenetic diet: impact on the epigenome and cancer. *Epigenomics*, *3*(4), 503-518.
- Harper, C., & Kril, J. (1989). Patterns of neuronal loss in the cerebral cortex in chronic alcoholic patients. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 92(1), 81-89.

- Hart, A., & Kamm, M. A. (2002). Mechanisms of initiation and perpetuation of gut inflammation by stress. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics, 16*(12), 2017-2028.
- He, J., & Crews, F. T. (2008). Increased MCP-1 and microglia in various regions of the human alcoholic brain. *Experimental neurology*, 210(2), 349-358.
- Hensley, K., Robinson, K. A., Gabbita, S. P., Salsman, S., & Floyd, R. A. (2000). Reactive oxygen species, cell signaling, and cell injury. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 28(10), 1456-1462.
- Hill, D. L., Marsano, L. S., & McClain, C. J. (1993). Increased plasma interleukin-8 concentrations in alcoholic hepatitis. *Hepatology*, 18(3), 576-580.
- Holt, E. M., Steffen, L. M., Moran, A., Basu, S., Steinberger, J., Ross, J. A., ... Sinaiko, A. R. (2009). Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 109(3), 414-421.
- Huang, Y., Pastor, W. A., Shen, Y., Tahiliani, M., Liu, D. R., & Rao, A. (2010). The behaviour of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in bisulfite sequencing. *PloS one*, *5*(1), e8888.
- Hur, K., Niwa, T., Toyoda, T., Tsukamoto, T., Tatematsu, M., Yang, H.-K., & Ushijima, T. (2011). Insufficient role of cell proliferation in aberrant DNA methylation induction and involvement of specific types of inflammation. *Carcinogenesis*, 32(1), 35-41.
- Hutchison, K. E. (2008). Alcohol dependence: neuroimaging and the development of translational phenotypes. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, *32*(7), 1111-1112. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00691.x
- Jaspan, H. B., Lawn, S. D., Safrit, J. T., & Bekker, L.-G. (2006). The maturing immune system: implications for development and testing HIV-1 vaccines for children and adolescents. *Aids*, 20(4), 483-494.
- Jenke, A. C., & Zilbauer, M. (2012). Epigenetics in inflammatory bowel disease. *Current opinion in gastroenterology*, 28(6), 577-584.
- Johnson, J. D., O'Connor, K. A., Deak, T., Stark, M., Watkins, L. R., & Maier, S. F. (2002). Prior stressor exposure sensitizes LPS-induced cytokine production. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 16(4), 461-476.
- Jones, P. A. (2012). Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nat Rev Genet, 13*(7), 484-492. doi:10.1038/nrg3230
- Jones, P. A., & Takai, D. (2001). The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics. *Science*, 293(5532), 1068-1070.

- Kalivas, P. W., & Volkow, N. D. (2005). The neural basis of addiction: a pathology of motivation and choice. *Am J Psychiatry*, 162(8), 1403-1413. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.8.1403
- Karoly, H. C., Harlaar, N., & Hutchison, K. E. (2013). Substance use disorders: a theory-driven approach to the integration of genetics and neuroimaging. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1282, 71-91. doi:10.1111/nyas.12074
- Karoly, H. C., Stevens, C. J., Thayer, R. E., Magnan, R. E., Bryan, A. D., & Hutchison, K. E. (2013). Aerobic exercise moderates the effect of heavy alcohol consumption on white matter damage. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 37(9), 1508-1515.
- Karoly, H. C., Weiland, B. J., Sabbineni, A., & Hutchison, K. E. (2014). Preliminary functional MRI results from a combined stop-signal alcohol-cue task. J Stud Alcohol Drugs, 75(4), 664-673.
- Karoly H.C., Thayer R.E., Hagerty S.L., & Hutchison K.E. TLR4 Methylation Moderates the Relationship Between Alcohol Use Severity and Gray Matter Loss Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs. *(in press)*
- Keen, L., Pereira, D., & Latimer, W. (2014). Self-reported lifetime marijuana use and interleukin-6 levels in middle-aged African Americans. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 140, 156-160.
- Kim, Y.-T., Sohn, H., & Jeong, J. (2011). Delayed transition from ambiguous to risky decision making in alcohol dependence during Iowa Gambling Task. *Psychiatry research*, 190(2), 297-303.
- Klein, T. W. (2005). Cannabinoid-based drugs as anti-inflammatory therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *5*(5), 400-411.
- Koob, G. F., & Volkow, N. D. (2010). Neurocircuitry of addiction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 217-238. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.110
- Laursen, T. L., Støy, S., Deleuran, B., Vilstrup, H., Grønbæk, H., & Sandahl, T. D. (2016). The damage-associated molecular pattern HMGB1 is elevated in human alcoholic hepatitis, but does not seem to be a primary driver of inflammation. *APMIS*, *124*(9), 741-747.
- Leclercq, S., Cani, P. D., Neyrinck, A. M., Stärkel, P., Jamar, F., Mikolajczak, M., . . . de Timary, P. (2012). Role of intestinal permeability and inflammation in the biological and behavioral control of alcohol-dependent subjects. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 26*(6), 911-918.
- Leclercq, S., De Saeger, C., Delzenne, N., de Timary, P., & Stärkel, P. (2014a). Role of inflammatory pathways, blood mononuclear cells, and gut-derived bacterial products in alcohol dependence. *Biological psychiatry*, 76(9), 725-733.

- Leclercq, S., Matamoros, S., Cani, P. D., Neyrinck, A. M., Jamar, F., Stärkel, P., . . . Verbeke, K. (2014b). Intestinal permeability, gut-bacterial dysbiosis, and behavioral markers of alcohol-dependence severity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(42), E4485-E4493.
- Lehnardt, S., Massillon, L., Follett, P., Jensen, F. E., Ratan, R., Rosenberg, P. A., ... Vartanian, T. (2003). Activation of innate immunity in the CNS triggers neurodegeneration through a Toll-like receptor 4-dependent pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(14), 8514-8519. doi:10.1073/pnas.1432609100
- Levy, R., Kozela, E., Rimmerman, N., & Pietr, M. Cannabinoid regulation of microglial activity.
- Lewis, S. S., Hutchinson, M. R., Zhang, Y., Hund, D. K., Maier, S. F., Rice, K. C., & Watkins, L. R. (2013). Glucuronic acid and the ethanol metabolite ethyl-glucuronide cause toll-like receptor 4 activation and enhanced pain. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 30*, 24-32.
- Li, C. S., Luo, X., Yan, P., Bergquist, K., & Sinha, R. (2009). Altered impulse control in alcohol dependence: neural measures of stop signal performance. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 33(4), 740-750. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00891.x
- Liu, T., Zhang, X., So, C.-K., Wang, S., Wang, P., Yan, L., . . . Yang, C. S. (2006). Regulation of Cdx2 expression by promoter methylation, and effects of Cdx2 transfection on morphology and gene expression of human esophageal epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis*, 28(2), 488-496.
- Lourida, I., Soni, M., Thompson-Coon, J., Purandare, N., Lang, I. A., Ukoumunne, O. C., & Llewellyn, D. J. (2013). Mediterranean diet, cognitive function, and dementia: a systematic review. *Epidemiology*, 24(4), 479-489.
- Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Foreman, K., Lim, S., Shibuya, K., Aboyans, V., . . . Memish, Z. A. (2012). Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*, 380(9859), 2095-2128. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Lucey, M. R., Mathurin, P., & Morgan, T. R. (2009). Alcoholic hepatitis. *New England Journal* of Medicine, 360(26), 2758-2769.
- Maier, S. F., Goehler, L. E., Fleshner, M., & Watkins, L. R. (1998). The role of the vagus nerve in cytokine-to-brain communication. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 840(1), 289-300.
- Maier, S. F., & Watkins, L. R. (1998). Cytokines for psychologists: implications of bidirectional immune-to-brain communication for understanding behavior, mood, and cognition. *Psychological review*, 105(1), 83.

- Martín-Moreno, A. M., Reigada, D., Ramírez, B. G., Mechoulam, R., Innamorato, N., Cuadrado, A., & de Ceballos, M. L. (2011). Cannabidiol and other cannabinoids reduce microglial activation in vitro and in vivo: relevance to Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular pharmacology*, 79(6), 964-973.
- Mayfield, J., Ferguson, L., & Harris, R. A. (2013). Neuroimmune signaling: a key component of alcohol abuse. *Curr Opin Neurobiol, 23*(4), 513-520. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.024
- McClelland, G. H., & Judd, C. M. (1993). Statistical difficulties of detecting interactions and moderator effects. *Psychological bulletin*, *114*(2), 376.
- McDermott, L. M., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2009). A meta-analysis of depression severity and cognitive function. *Journal of affective disorders*, *119*(1), 1-8.
- McEwen, B. S., & Sapolsky, R. M. (1995). Stress and cognitive function. Current opinion in neurobiology, 5(2), 205-216.
- Mecha, M., Feliú, A., Iñigo, P., Mestre, L., Carrillo-Salinas, F., & Guaza, C. (2013). Cannabidiol provides long-lasting protection against the deleterious effects of inflammation in a viral model of multiple sclerosis: A role for A 2A receptors. *Neurobiology of disease*, 59, 141-150.
- Miguel-Hidalgo, J. J., Overholser, J. C., Meltzer, H. Y., Stockmeier, C. A., & Rajkowska, G. (2006). Reduced glial and neuronal packing density in the orbitofrontal cortex in alcohol dependence and its relationship with suicide and duration of alcohol dependence. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 30(11), 1845-1855.
- Miller, A. H., Maletic, V., & Raison, C. L. (2009). Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biological psychiatry*, 65(9), 732-741.
- Mon, A., Durazzo, T. C., & Meyerhoff, D. J. (2012). Glutamate, GABA, and other cortical metabolite concentrations during early abstinence from alcohol and their associations with neurocognitive changes. *Drug and alcohol dependence, 125*(1), 27-36.
- Mormina, M. E., Thakur, S., Molleman, A., Whelan, C. J., & Baydoun, A. R. (2006). Cannabinoid signalling in TNF-α induced IL-8 release. *European journal of pharmacology*, *540*(1), 183-190.
- Murray, C. J., Vos, T., Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Flaxman, A. D., Michaud, C., . . . Memish, Z. A. (2012). Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*, 380(9859), 2197-2223. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61689-4

Nestler, E. J. (2012). Epigenetics: stress makes its molecular mark. Nature, 490(7419), 171-172.

- Nestler, E. J. (2014). Epigenetic mechanisms of drug addiction. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt B, 259-268. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.004
- Newell-Price, J., Clark, A. J., & King, P. (2000). DNA methylation and silencing of gene expression. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 11(4), 142-148.
- Ntanasis-Stathopoulos, J., Tzanninis, J., Philippou, A., & Koutsilieris, M. (2013). Epigenetic regulation on gene expression induced by physical exercise. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact, 13*(2), 133-146.
- Pai, J. K., Hankinson, S. E., Thadhani, R., Rifai, N., Pischon, T., & Rimm, E. B. (2006). Moderate alcohol consumption and lower levels of inflammatory markers in US men and women. *Atherosclerosis*, 186(1), 113-120.
- Park, J. S., Gamboni-Robertson, F., He, Q., Svetkauskaite, D., Kim, J.-Y., Strassheim, D., . . . Banerjee, A. (2006). High mobility group box 1 protein interacts with multiple Toll-like receptors. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 290(3), C917-C924.
- Park, J. S., Svetkauskaite, D., He, Q., Kim, J.-Y., Strassheim, D., Ishizaka, A., & Abraham, E. (2004). Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(9), 7370-7377.
- Parlesak, A., Schäfer, C., Schütz, T., Bode, J. C., & Bode, C. (2000). Increased intestinal permeability to macromolecules and endotoxemia in patients with chronic alcohol abuse in different stages of alcohol-induced liver disease. *Journal of hepatology*, 32(5), 742-747.
- Parsons, O. A., & Leber, W. R. (1982). Alcohol, cognitive dysfunction and brain damage. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, Biomedical Processes and Consequences of Alcohol Abuse. Alcohol and Health monograph(2), 213-225.
- Pascual, M., Baliño, P., Alfonso-Loeches, S., Aragón, C. M., & Guerri, C. (2011). Impact of TLR4 on behavioral and cognitive dysfunctions associated with alcohol-induced neuroinflammatory damage. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 25*, S80-S91.
- Pascual, M., Pla, A., Miñarro, J., & Guerri, C. (2014). Neuroimmune activation and myelin changes in adolescent rats exposed to high-dose alcohol and associated cognitive dysfunction: a review with reference to human adolescent drinking. *Alcohol and alcoholism*, 49(2), 187-192.
- Patel, S. R., Zhu, X., Storfer-Isser, A., Mehra, R., Jenny, N. S., Tracy, R., & Redline, S. (2009). Sleep duration and biomarkers of inflammation. *Sleep*, 32(2), 200.

- Perry, V. H., Nicoll, J. A., & Holmes, C. (2010). Microglia in neurodegenerative disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 6(4), 193-201.
- Pfefferbaum, A., Lim, K. O., Zipursky, R. B., Mathalon, D. H., Rosenbloom, M. J., Lane, B., . . . Sullivan, E. V. (1992). Brain gray and white matter volume loss accelerates with aging in chronic alcoholics: a quantitative MRI study. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 16(6), 1078-1089.
- Pla, A., Pascual, M., Renau-Piqueras, J., & Guerri, C. (2014). TLR4 mediates the impairment of ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagy-lysosome pathways induced by ethanol treatment in brain. *Cell death & disease*, *5*(2), e1066.
- Puffenbarger, R. A., Boothe, A. C., & Cabral, G. A. (2000). Cannabinoids inhibit LPS-inducible cytokine mRNA expression in rat microglial cells. *Glia*, 29(1), 58-69.
- Qin, L., & Crews, F. T. (2012). NADPH oxidase and reactive oxygen species contribute to alcohol-induced microglial activation and neurodegeneration. *J Neuroinflammation*, 9, 5. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-5
- Qin, L., He, J., Hanes, R. N., Pluzarev, O., Hong, J.-S., & Crews, F. T. (2008). Increased systemic and brain cytokine production and neuroinflammation by endotoxin following ethanol treatment. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, *5*(1), 10.
- Quan, N., & Banks, W. A. (2007). Brain-immune communication pathways. *Brain, behavior, and immunity, 21*(6), 727-735.
- Qureshi, I. A., & Mehler, M. F. (2014). Epigenetics of sleep and chronobiology. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports, 14*(3), 1-11.
- Raison, C. L., Capuron, L., & Miller, A. H. (2006). Cytokines sing the blues: inflammation and the pathogenesis of depression. *Trends in immunology*, *27*(1), 24-31.
- Ren, K., & Torres, R. (2009). Role of interleukin-1β during pain and inflammation. Brain research reviews, 60(1), 57-64.
- Roche, M., Diamond, M., Kelly, J. P., & Finn, D. P. (2006). In vivo modulation of LPS-induced alterations in brain and peripheral cytokines and HPA axis activity by cannabinoids. *Journal of neuroimmunology, 181*(1), 57-67.
- Rosenbloom, M., Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2003). Using magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging to assess brain damage in alcoholics. *Alcohol Research and Health*, *27*(2), 146-152.
- Ruiz-Valdepeñas, L., Martínez-Orgado, J. A., Benito, C., Millán, Á., Tolón, R. M., & Romero, J. (2011). Cannabidiol reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced vascular changes and inflammation in the mouse brain: an intravital microscopy study. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, 8(1), 5.

Santos, K. F., Mazzola, T. N., & Carvalho, H. F. (2005). The prima donna of epigenetics: the regulation of gene expression by DNA methylation. *Braz J Med Biol Res, 38*(10), 1531-1541. doi:/S0100-879x2005001000010

Salthouse, T. A. (2013). Mechanisms of age-cognition relations in adulthood. Psychology Press.

- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Babor, T. F., de la Fuente, J. R., & Grant, M. (1993). Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. *Addiction*, 88(6), 791-804.
- Schildberger, A., Rossmanith, E., Eichhorn, T., Strassl, K., & Weber, V. (2013). Monocytes, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and THP-1 cells exhibit different cytokine expression patterns following stimulation with lipopolysaccharide. *Mediators of inflammation*, 2013.
- Schmider, E., Ziegler, M., Danay, E., Beyer, L., & Bühner, M. (2010). Is it really robust? *Methodology*.
- Schuckit, M. A. (2014). A brief history of research on the genetics of alcohol and other drug use disorders. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs Suppl, 75 Suppl 17*, 59-67.
- Schäfer, C., Schips, I., Landig, J., Bode, J., & Bode, C. (1995). Tumor-necrosis-factor and interleukin-6 response of peripheral blood monocytes to low concentrations of lipopolysaccharide in patients with alcoholic liver disease. *Zeitschrift fur Gastroenterologie*, 33(9), 503-508.
- Shukla, S. D., Velazquez, J., French, S. W., Lu, S. C., Ticku, M. K., & Zakhari, S. (2008). Emerging role of epigenetics in the actions of alcohol. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, *32*(9), 1525-1534. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00729.x
- Simon, H.-U., Haj-Yehia, A., & Levi-Schaffer, F. (2000). Role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in apoptosis induction. *Apoptosis*, 5(5), 415-418.
- Smith, A. K., Kilaru, V., Klengel, T., Mercer, K. B., Bradley, B., Conneely, K. N., . . . Binder, E. B. (2015). DNA extracted from saliva for methylation studies of psychiatric traits: evidence tissue specificity and relatedness to brain. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 168(1), 36-44.
- Sobell, M., Sobell, L., & Maisto, S. (1979). Time line follow back assessment method [TLFB]. Alcoholism treatment assessment research instruments.(NIAA treatment handbook series 2). Rockville, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse, 167-188.

- Stahre, M., Roeber, J., Kanny, D., Brewer, R. D., & Zhang, X. (2014). Peer Reviewed: Contribution of Excessive Alcohol Consumption to Deaths and Years of Potential Life Lost in the United States. *Preventing chronic disease*, 11.
- Starkman, B. G., Sakharkar, A. J., & Pandey, S. C. (2012). Epigenetics-beyond the genome in alcoholism. *Alcohol Res*, 34(3), 293-305.
- Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2005). Neurocircuitry in alcoholism: a substrate of disruption and repair. *Psychopharmacology*, 180(4), 583-594.
- Sun, A. Y., & Sun, G. Y. (2001). Ethanol and oxidative mechanisms in the brain. *Journal of biomedical science*, 8(1), 37-43.
- Szabo, G., & Lippai, D. (2014). Converging actions of alcohol on liver and brain immune signaling. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol, 118*, 359-380.
- Szabo, G., Wands, J. R., Eken, A., Osna, N. A., Weinman, S. A., Machida, K., & Joe Wang, H. (2010). Alcohol and hepatitis C virus–interactions in immune dysfunctions and liver damage. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 34(10), 1675-1686.
- Takahashi, K., Sugi, Y., Hosono, A., & Kaminogawa, S. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of TLR4 gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells for the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *The Journal of Immunology, 183*(10), 6522-6529.
- Thayer, R. E., Hagerty, S. L., Sabbineni, A., Claus, E. D., Hutchison, K. E., & Weiland, B. J. (2016). Negative and interactive effects of sex, aging, and alcohol abuse on gray matter morphometry. *Hum Brain Mapp*. doi:10.1002/hbm.23172
- Thompson, F. E., Subar, A. F., Smith, A. F., Midthune, D., Radimer, K. L., Kahle, L. L., & Kipnis, V. (2002). Fruit and vegetable assessment: performance of 2 new short instruments and a food frequency questionnaire. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 102(12), 1764-1772.
- Tiwari, V., & Chopra, K. (2013). Resveratrol abrogates alcohol-induced cognitive deficits by attenuating oxidative–nitrosative stress and inflammatory cascade in the adult rat brain. *Neurochemistry international, 62*(6), 861-869.
- Tiwari, V., Kuhad, A., & Chopra, K. (2009). Suppression of neuro-inflammatory signaling cascade by tocotrienol can prevent chronic alcohol-induced cognitive dysfunction in rats. *Behavioural brain research*, 203(2), 296-303.
- Tomarken, Andrew J., and Ronald C. Serlin. "Comparison of ANOVA alternatives under variance heterogeneity and specific noncentrality structures." *Psychological Bulletin* 99.1 (1986): 90.

- Tost, J., & Gut, I. G. (2007). DNA methylation analysis by pyrosequencing. *Nature protocols*, 2(9), 2265-2275.
- Trantham-Davidson, H., Burnett, E. J., Gass, J. T., Lopez, M. F., Mulholland, P. J., Centanni, S. W., . . . Chandler, L. J. (2014). Chronic alcohol disrupts dopamine receptor activity and the cognitive function of the medial prefrontal cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(10), 3706-3718.
- Van der Vaart, H., Postma, D. S., Timens, W., Hylkema, M. N., Willemse, B. W., Boezen, H. M., . . . Ten Hacken, N. H. (2005). Acute effects of cigarette smoking on inflammation in healthy intermittent smokers. *Respiratory research*, 6(1), 22.
- Vetreno, R. P., & Crews, F. T. (2012). Adolescent binge drinking increases expression of the danger signal receptor agonist HMGB1 and Toll-like receptors in the adult prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience*, 226, 475-488.
- Vetreno, R. P., Qin, L., & Crews, F. T. (2013). Increased receptor for advanced glycation end product expression in the human alcoholic prefrontal cortex is linked to adolescent drinking. *Neurobiology of disease*, *59*, 52-62.
- Volkow, N. D., & Baler, R. D. (2014). Addiction science: Uncovering neurobiological complexity. *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt B, 235-249. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.05.007
- Wang, H. J., Zakhari, S., & Jung, M. K. (2010). Alcohol, inflammation, and gut-liver-brain interactions in tissue damage and disease development. *World journal of* gastroenterology: WJG, 16(11), 1304.
- Warnault, V., & Ron, D. (2013). Chromatin remodeling: a new landscape to treat harmful alcohol-use disorders. *Future medicinal chemistry*, *5*(17), 2011-2013.
- Wen, H., Schaller, M. A., Dou, Y., Hogaboam, C. M., & Kunkel, S. L. (2008). Dendritic cells at the interface of innate and acquired immunity: the role for epigenetic changes. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 83(3), 439-446.
- Wen, L., Li, X., Yan, L., Tan, Y., Li, R., Zhao, Y., . . . Song, C. (2014). Whole-genome analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine and 5-methylcytosine at base resolution in the human brain. *Genome biology*, 15(3), R49.
- White, H. R., & Labouvie, E. W. (1989). Towards the assessment of adolescent problem drinking. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 50(01), 30.
- Whiteford, H. A., Degenhardt, L., Rehm, J., Baxter, A. J., Ferrari, A. J., Erskine, H. E., . . . Vos, T. (2013). Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*, 382(9904), 1575-1586. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)61611-6

- Whitman, B. A., Knapp, D. J., Werner, D. F., Crews, F. T., & Breese, G. R. (2013). The cytokine mRNA increase induced by withdrawal from chronic ethanol in the sterile environment of brain is mediated by CRF and HMGB1 release. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 37(12), 2086-2097.
- Wong, C. C., Mill, J., & Fernandes, C. (2011). Drugs and addiction: an introduction to epigenetics. *Addiction*, *106*(3), 480-489. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03321.x
- Wong, D. F., Kuwabara, H., Schretlen, D. J., Bonson, K. R., Zhou, Y., Nandi, A., ... Kumar, A. (2006). Increased occupancy of dopamine receptors in human striatum during cueelicited cocaine craving. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31(12), 2716-2727.
- Woods, A. J., Porges, E. C., Bryant, V. E., Seider, T., Gongvatana, A., Kahler, C. W., . . . Cohen, R. A. (2016). Current heavy alcohol consumption is associated with greater cognitive impairment in older adults. *Alcoholism: clinical and experimental research*, 40(11), 2435-2444.
- Woods, J. A., Vieira, V. J., & Keylock, K. T. (2009). Exercise, inflammation, and innate immunity. *Immunology and allergy clinics of North America*, 29(2), 381-393.
- Wu, H., D'Alessio, A. C., Ito, S., Wang, Z., Cui, K., Zhao, K., . . . Zhang, Y. (2011). Genomewide analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine distribution reveals its dual function in transcriptional regulation in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Genes & development, 25*(7), 679-684.
- Yirmiya, R. (2000). Depression in medical illness. The Western journal of medicine, 173(5), 333.
- Yu, M., Wang, H., Ding, A., Golenbock, D. T., Latz, E., Czura, C. J., ... Yang, H. (2006). HMGB1 signals through toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and TLR2. *Shock*, 26(2), 174-179.
- Zampetaki, A., Xiao, Q., Zeng, L., Hu, Y., & Xu, Q. (2006). TLR4 expression in mouse embryonic stem cells and in stem cell-derived vascular cells is regulated by epigenetic modifications. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 347(1), 89-99. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.06.055
- Zou, J. Y., & Crews, F. T. (2014). Release of neuronal HMGB1 by ethanol through decreased HDAC activity activates brain neuroimmune signaling. *PloS one*, *9*(2), e87915.